Motor variability as a characteristic of the control of reaching movements: Influence of sensory input and task constraints

Melanie Krüger



May 2013

Motor variability as a characteristic of the control of reaching movements: Influence of sensory input and task constraints

> Dissertation at the Graduate School of Systemic Neurosciences Ludwig–Maximilians–Universität München

> > submitted by Melanie Krüger

München, 21.05.2013

First supervisor:Prof. Andreas StraubeSecond supervisor:Dr.-Ing. Thomas EggertDate of oral defense:August 21st, 2013

Abstract

Reaching towards the cup of coffee in the morning will, under most circumstances, result in successful grasping of it. Although it seems as if this is a very simple movement, executed already a thousand times before, it is actually very complex, requiring the control of numerous degrees of freedom at different hierarchical levels of the motor system. Importantly, not two reaching movements towards the cup of coffee will be identical. Flexibility in movement execution in the presence of stable task performance represents an exceptional ability of the human motor system. A major interest of motor control research is to understand how the control of complex reaching movements is adjusted to constantly changing environmental conditions and how task performance is stabilized under such circumstances. In this thesis, the influence of sensory input and external task constraints on human movement control is investigated. Four studies were conducted to investigate the influence of (1) vision, (2) proprioception, (3) target shape, and (4) age on the control of movement variability in complex reaching movements. Analyzing movement variability was chosen as the approach to gain insight into the processes underlying stable movement execution. First, it is shown that the availability of visual information is of minor importance for the control of this kind of movements. In the second study it is shown that the human motor control system immediately adjusts movement control to the availability of proprioceptive information without changes in tasks performance. Further, the healthy human motor system is able to simultaneously account for multiple task constraints without performance decrements. Thereby, multiple task constraints are differently accounted for, with the more constraint task variable being more strongly stabilized. It is further shown that this pattern changes with age. In general, the outcome of this work provides evidence that the human motor system is purposefully exploiting motor redundancy, i.e. flexibly and synergistically coordinating the effector degrees of freedom, to keep task performance stable under changing sensory input and external task constraints.

Overview

This thesis is structured in three main chapters. The first chapter gives a general introduction into the topic with the special focus on the two theoretical columns of this thesis: first, the control of movement variability, and second the influence of sensory input and external task constraints on the control of reaching movements. Further, an excursus on the topic of optimal feedback control is made and a short overview about the methodological approaches applied in the current thesis is presented. At the end of the introduction the aim of this thesis is stated.

The second chapter presents four research projects in form of manuscripts. At the beginning of that chapter the title of each manuscript and the contribution of the author of this thesis to each project are stated. Following, the four manuscripts are included in the format they are published, will be published or are submitted.

The first article deals with the influence of the availability of visual information and an accuracy constraint on the control of complex reaching movements. Based on the results of this project, the second article addresses the question whether healthy subjects are able to adjust the control of complex reaching movements to the loss of proprioceptive information. The third article deals with the question of how the control of a complex reaching movement accounts for multiple external task constraints that are induced by the geometric properties of the reaching target. Finally, the last article included in this thesis targets age-related changes in the control of reaching movements.

The third chapter offers a general discussion on the findings of the four research projects in relation to the current state of knowledge. In addition, a critical discussion on the methods used in this thesis and a short outlook on possible further directions of research is given.

Contents

Abstracti
Overviewiii
1 General Introduction
1.1 About the control of movement variability2
1.2 Motor control under changing environmental conditions4
1.3 Excursus: Optimal feedback control7
1.4 Methodological considerations9
1.5 Aim of the Thesis
2 Cumulative Thesis
Joint angle variability in the time course of reaching movements
Rapid adjustment of human motor control strategies in reaching movements under temporal proprioceptive deafferentation
Synergistic control of joint angle variability: Influence of target shape51
Age-related differences in the stabilization of important task variables in reaching movements
3 General Discussion
3.1 Flexibility in movement control80
3.2 Critical Discussion on the Method
3.4 Prospective future research directions
3.5 Concluding remarks
Bibliography
Acknowledgements
List of Publications

1 General Introduction

When swimming through open water, each arm stroke can be characterized by two seemingly opposing features: flexibility and stability in movement execution. Both, flexibility and stability refer to the existence of variability in repeated arm strokes. Thereby, flexibility reflects the variability in the coordination of the redundant degrees of freedom (DoF) of the arm. This is of importance for the adjustment of the swimming technique to the everchanging environmental conditions as for example the height of the waves. In contrast, stability refers to the variability in the movement outcome. Ideally, each arm stroke is executed stable and nearly optimal to provide the greatest propulsion. Interestingly, flexibility and stability in movement execution are related to each other, as the first grants the second.

To better understand this seeming contradiction one has to think about the two different levels of analysis when talking about flexibility and stability in movement execution. While flexibility, as described above, refers to the effector space, which means for example joint angles for arm movements, stability refers to the task space, as for example final arm posture. The distinction between effector and task space is of special interest when investigating the influence of sensory input or external task constraints (e.g. visual input for estimating drift or wave height, respectively) on the control of well-trained movements, where task performance changes little in the presence of changing environmental conditions. Then, analyzing the effector space can bring out differences in the control of movements that did yield similar task performances. In recent times, the distinction between effector and task space became especially meaningful as the advantages of motor redundancy foregrounded (Latash, Scholz & Schöner, 2007; Todorov & Jordan, 2002). Motor redundancy describes the phenomenon that the number of DoF within the effector space is greater than the one within the task space, resulting in an infinite number of possible task solutions. How the healthy human motor system takes use of motor redundancy to account for different environmental conditions in movement control is a question still under debate.

In this thesis, experimental work on the control of complex reaching movements under different sensory inputs and different external task constraints will be presented. In that regard, analyzing movement variability served as an approach to be able to investigate movement control. Reaching movements were chosen as the experimental task as they represent an elemental part of human's every-day motor behavior, as for example reachto-grasp a cup of coffee or reach-to-grasp the door handle. Due to that, they are usually performed with high quality, even under changing sensory inputs or changing external constraints (Cisek, Grossberg & Bullock, 1998; Fitts, 1954). At the same time, reaching movements are complex as they are requiring the coordination of numerous DoF in 3D. The sum of these points makes reaching movements to a very interesting and suitable motor task to study. In the following, I will introduce the two main theoretical columns on which my thesis is based. First, the existing knowledge about the control of movement variability will be presented. Within that context, the distinction between effector and task space will be introduced. This will clarify some of the observed inconsistencies in the existing empirical evidence on the control of reaching movements by assigning them to the analysis of either one of the two levels. Further, the "problem of redundancy" will be introduced. This subsection describes how the human motor control system can take advantage of the superior number of effector DoF in the control of complex movements. Representing the second theoretical column, empirical evidence about the ability of the human motor control system to adjust to changing internal and external conditions will be reviewed. Subsequently and before stating the aims of this thesis, a short excursion on optimal feedback control will be made and different methodological approaches in analyzing movement variability will be considered. Finally, the aim of this thesis will be defined.

1.1 About the control of movement variability

Movement variability is an inherent characteristic of human motor behavior. Within the last recent years it has attracted a lot of scientific attention and its examination has become much more nuanced since then. In the following, a short overview about the current state of empirical and theoretical knowledge will be given.

1.1.1 Movement variability in the effector and the task space

With respect to the frame of reference, movement variability can be considered as either a sign of healthy or impaired motor control (Berardelli, et al., 1996; Cirstea & Levin, 2000; Latash & Anson, 2006; Latash, Scholz & Schöner, 2007). It is important to note that the seemingly contrasting positive or negative attribution of movement variability is often due to an analysis of movement execution on different levels. In principal, two levels of analyzing movement variability have to be distinguished: effector space and task space (also termed as intrinsic and extrinsic space; see e.g. Desmurget, et al., 1995). Thereby, variability in the effector space is usually referred to as flexibility in movement execution (Latash, Scholz & Schöner, 2007; Scholz & Schöner, 1999) or as stereotype when variability is absent (Müller & Sternad, 2009). On the other hand, there is variability in the task space that defines the quality in movement execution. In motor control research, much of the theoretical and experimental work has focused on analyzing movement variability in the task space. Recently, the "minimum variance" model was supposed, assuming that in reaching movements the motor control system tries to minimize variability of e.g. final hand position (Harris & Wolpert, 1998; see also 1.3 below). This theory builds the frame within much of the existing empirical evidence about the control of reaching movements can be ranged (see for example Grea, Desmurget & Prablanc, 2000; Simmons & Demiris, 2006). Though, it seems as if for redundant effector systems minimizing movement variability at movement end explains only parts of the strategy underlying human movement control (Latash, Scholz & Schöner, 2002; see also 1.3).

1.1.2 The problem of redundancy

Motor redundancy is a long-known phenomenon in motor control research. It describes the fact that the number of DoF in the effector space is often superfluous to the number of DoF in the task space. As a result, there are an infinite number of possible solutions of the motor task. To exemplify this phenomenon let's assume to reach towards an object. The location of the object in space can be described by three dimensions (dimensionality of the task space): position in horizontal and vertical direction and in depth. The posture of the arm when grasping this object can be described by seven joint angles (i.e. three shoulder angles, two angles of the elbow, and three wrist angles; dimensionality of the effector space). As the dimensionality of the effector space is greater than the one of the task space there are theoretically infinite possible combinations of joint angles that would all result in successful grasping of the object.



Fig. 1: Illustration of the Hammering-example of Bernstein (1967). The least variable points during the hammering trajectories were the locations of the two nails. The figure is obtained from Müller & Sternad, 2009.

For a long time, redundancy was considered as a problem for the motor control system, as it requires a complex strategy coordinating these DoF (Bernstein, 1967; Gielen, Vanbolhuis & Theeuwen, 1995). Though recently, the idea that the motor control system can take use of motor redundancy became of greater interest in motor control research (Latash, Scholz & Schöner, 2002; Müller & Sternad, 2009). In this context, the "blacksmith

hammering a nail"-example of Bernstein (1967; see Fig. 1) is often cited. Bernstein noted that the least variable point during the hammering trajectory was the point when the hammer hit the nail. Looking at it the other way around, the variability observed in the movement trajectory would have led one to expect a greater variability at the target point as actually observed. Similar observations were made for many other tasks, like sit-to-stand (Scholz & Schöner, 1999), pointing (Domkin, et al., 2002; Verrel, Lövden & Lindenberger, 2012), or multi-finger force production (Shinohara, et al., 2004; Zhang, et al., 2008), too. What all these studies have in common is the observation that the variability within the effector space was correlated between the different effector DoF such that variability in the task space stayed relatively small. Based on that, movement variability in the effector space was further distinguished into task-relevant and task-irrelevant variability. Several methods have been developed to separate between the two kinds of movement variability (Cusumano & Cesari, 2006; Müller & Sternad, 2009; Scholz & Schöner, 1999; see also 1.4 for a more detailed description of the methods).

Different assumptions were put forward why motor redundancy could be advantageous. In line with the "minimum intervention principle" (Todorov & Jordan, 2002; Todorov, 2004), taking use of motor redundancy would allow to optimize the costs related to movement control, as it would then only be necessary to minimize variability in task-relevant directions, i.e. in directions which are of importance for successful movement execution. Alternatively, motor redundancy could be used to exploit the range of successful task solutions, potentially resulting in better task performance (Archambault, et al., 1999; van Beers, Brenner & Smeets, 2013). This explanation was suggested with regard to the improvement in motor performance during movement learning (Latash, Scholz & Schöner, 2007). As a third option, taking use of motor redundancy may allow to account for multiple task variables during the control of complex movements. This may become relevant when moving in natural environments, which are characterized by the varying availability of sensory inputs and varying external task constraints. Taking use of motor redundancy may be a way cope with these factors (Gera, et al., 2010; Zhang, et al., 2008). It is important to note that the three options are not mutually exclusive and may influence healthy human movement control concurrently.

1.2 Motor control under changing environmental conditions

When moving in natural environments, our behavior is influenced by multiple factors. The broadest differentiation one could possibly think of is between internal and external factors of influence. Thereby, internal factors are related to internal states such as general alertness, motivation, memory, etc. and to the characteristics of the sensorimotor system transforming e.g. visual or proprioceptive inputs into neural activity, and subsequently into motor actions. All these factors are subject to modification due to learning and aging. Opposed to that, external factors are induced by the environment. External factors could be e.g. accuracy constraints or speed requirements in movement execution. Both internal and external factors have an influence on movement control (Desmurget et al., 1997a). In the following, a brief overview about the existing knowledge on the influence of internal and external factors on movement control will be given.

1.2.1 Sensory integration of vision and proprioception

Vision and proprioception build an important source of information used to plan and control reaching movements. Therefore, manipulating the availability or reliability of these two sources of information is a common approach in motor control research to gain information about the functioning of the human motor system in health and disease (see for example Bagesteiro, Sarlegna & Sainburg, 2006; Bays & Wolpert, 2007; Sober & Sabes, 2005).

As the availability and reliability of visual information are easily to perturb, affecting this source of sensory information is very common when investigating the planning and control of reaching movements (Ellenbürger et al., 2012; Goodale & Milner, 1992; van den Dobbelsteen, Brenner & Smeets, 2003). It was found that the availability of visual information about the target and the effector position prior to movement initiation is sufficient to plan a reaching movement, which can then be successfully executed without visual online-control (Desmurget et al, 1997b). Further, vision seems to be of particular importance for the planning of the movement distance, whereas proprioception seems to be of greater importance for movement online control (Bagesteiro, Sarlegna & Sainburg, 2006). There is ample empirical evidence that the healthy motor system is able to successfully plan and control reaching movements under changing visual conditions with respect to its movement outcome. However, so far, it is not equally well studied how the availability of visual information influences the control of movement variability during movement execution. This is the question to be targeted in the first study presented in this thesis.

A second important source of sensory information is proprioception. In contrast to vision, which is part of the exteroception of the sensory system, proprioception transmits information about the internal body-states, e.g. joint angles or muscle activity, through specialized organs (Bear, Connors & Paradiso, 2007). Due to that, it is assumed that proprioception plays a major role for the control of movements within the effector space (Desmurget & Prablanc, 1997; Gentilucci et al., 1994; Ghez & Sainburg, 1995). Thereby, proprioception is of special importance during online-control of the movement, when incoming information about the executed movement is compared to the efference copy, which contains information about the to-beexpected sensory consequences of the movement (von Holst & Mittelstaedt, 1950). Further, proprioceptive information are integrated in the internal representation of the movement during movement planning (Medina, Jax & Coslett, 2009). Because it is more difficult to manipulate the availability and reliability of proprioceptive than of visual information, its influence on the control of reaching movements is usually studied on patients with chronic proprioceptive impairments (see for example Medina, Jax & Coslett, 2009; Nougier, et al., 1996; Sainburg et al., 1995; Sainburg, Poizner & Ghez, 1993). So far, it is not well-investigated how strong the motor system of healthy humans relies on proprioceptive information and whether it is able to immediately and effectively adjusts the control of complex reaching movements to the temporary loss of proprioception. This question will be targeted in the second study presented in this thesis.

1.2.2 Influence of external task constraints

External factors that are influencing the planning and control of reaching movements are versatile. A first factor is the difficulty of the task imposed by the target size, the reaching distance, or the required speed in movement execution. Task difficulty has a well-documented effect on movement speed and accuracy, described by Fitts' Law (Fitts, 1954; Fitts & Peterson, 1964): when aiming between two targets, increasing movement difficulty (by e.g. increasing the distance between the two targets), will lead to adaptive changes in movement planning so that movement duration and/or movement variability at the endpoint is increased. To put it in different words: when increasing movement speed in an aiming task, movement variability at the target will be increased. This so-called "speed-accuracy trade-off" is largely supported by empirical evidence (e.g. Adam, 1992; Buchanan, Park & Shea, 2006; Kovacs, Buchanan & Shea, 2008). Though, most studies focused on final task performance. How the adjustments of movement planning and control to increased movement difficulty due to an increased accuracy constraint are reflected in the time course of movement variability during movement execution is much less studied (for an example see Boyles, Panzer & Shea, 2012) and will be targeted in the first study of this thesis.

Another external task constraint, whose influence on movement control is documented by ample empirical evidence, is the shape and the orientation of the reaching target. David Rosenbaum proposed that reaching movements are planned and executed in a way that final arm posture at target location is most comfortable, even if that requires uncomfortable arm postures during movement execution, known as the "end-state comfort effect" (Rosenbaum et al., 1992). Hence, the end-state comfort is determined by the shape of the reaching target and its final location. Further, Desmurget and colleagues (1995) could show that final arm posture of a reaching movement is determined by the orientation of the target, independent of whether the reaching target was stationary or changed its orientation after movement onset. This suggests that the human motor system is able to adjust the online-control of a reaching movement to the changing target orientation. Altogether, this suggests that the reaching target itself has an influence on the control of the reaching movement in the bid to achieve a certain final arm posture. Though, so far it is not clear whether, when reaching towards different targets which do not enforce different final arm postures, but whose target shapes apply differently strong constraints on certain parameters of it, the healthy motor system accounts for these constraints by adjusting movement control. This question will be targeted in the third study presented in this thesis.

1.2.3 Age-related changes in movement planning and control

Aging leads to changes on multiple levels of the human motor system (Seidler et al., 2010). These changes are often related to a decrease in systems complexity, but can also be due to increased complexity (in a sense of less structure, see Vaillancourt & Newell, 2002, for a review). The agerelated changes within the motor system are usually accompanied by a decrement in motor performance, becoming apparent for example in slowed movement execution, or less stable motor performance (Newell, Mayer-Kress & Liu, 2009; Verrel, Lövden & Lindenberger, 2012). In the context of motor redundancy, it was hypothesized, that older people are less able to flexibly coordinate the redundant effector DoF, leading to less stable task performance across repeated movement trials (Latash & Anson, 2006; Verrel, Lövden & Lindenberger, 2012). Though, the existing empirical evidence on the control of redundant motor systems in older people was established by using experimental tasks with only one, clearly defined task variable. Though, as mentioned already above, when moving in natural environments the motor system has to account for multiple task constraints simultaneously during movement planning and control. Whether aging generally leads to a decrease in stable movement execution or whether this decrease is just one manifestation of several adaptive changes in the control of complex reaching movements in the presence of multiple task constraints remains a question to be answered and will be targeted in the fourth study presented in this thesis.

1.3 Excurse: Optimal feedback control

Within the course of research on the control of human motor behavior, a number of models have been developed which were able to explain and predict some aspects of healthy human motor behavior. Usually, it was supposed that the human motor system follows a strategy that tries to minimize a certain parameter of movement execution to maximize task success. The minimization process could then be described by a cost function. Several different parameters have been brought up in that context, as for example "minimum jerk" (Flash & Hogan, 1985), reflecting the rate of change in acceleration with the goal to execute the smoothest movement possible, or "minimum torque change" (Uno, Kawato & Suzuki, 1989). A more recent model was the "minimum variance" model by Harris and Wolpert (1998). This model captures important features of saccadic eye movements and reaching behavior and states that the human motor control system tries to minimize variance at movement end. In this concept, variance in movement behavior arises from noise in the motor signal, which linearly increases with signal size.

Though, empirical evidence suggests that the motor system does not only account for the minimization of movement variability at movement end, but does also account for various other costs during movement planning and control. In natural environments multiple internal and external factors are simultaneously influencing movement control. Therefore, best movement behavior can only result from the weighting of all the cost factors such that they are optimally accounted for. The resulting cost function is a compromise attempting to minimize all costs related to the task constraints. A theoretical approach that takes this trade-off into consideration was supposed by Todorov and Jordan (2002), known as "optimal feedback control". In this approach it is assumed that the motor system exploits motor redundancy to optimize motor behavior. This optimization is based on a cost function that takes into account minimum variance at movement end, as well as minimum energy consumption. To achieve this, the "minimum intervention principal" was proposed, stating that the human motor system is oriented towards minimizing movement variability only in task-relevant directions in order to minimize the costs for controlling the movement. Consequently, this approach captures both features of human motor behavior: flexibility and stability in movement execution. Variability in the effector space may or may not be detrimental for variability in the task space. It is assumed that only that portion of variability in the effector space that has an influence on the movement outcome in the task space is minimized by the motor system. In this way, the costs for controlling complex movements are optimized. This idea is in line with the concept of synergistic movement coordination and empirical evidence created by recent research on the topic of motor redundancy (Cusumano & Cesari, 2006; de Freitas, Scholz & Stehmann, 2007; Latash, Scholz & Schöner, 2002).

A special feature of the optimal feedback control theory is that it seems to be able to explain how the human motor system can account for changing environmental conditions to grant stable movement outcome, namely through optimal estimation. Recent empirical evidence suggests that this procedure can be well described by Bayesian decision theory (Green & Angelaki, 2010; Wolpert, 2007). It accounts for the flexible integration of multisensory feedback and is thereby able to explain the ability of the human motor system to successfully adjust human motor behavior on a trialby-trial basis (Verstynen & Sabes, 2011).

The neural correlates of optimal feedback control are currently under debate, as the functional role of many cortical regions in complex tasks is unresolved, yet (Green & Angelaki, 2010). Two cortical regions which are commonly supposed to be of importance for the control of movement variability are the cerebellum and the posterior parietal cortex (PPC). In studies applying TMS to induce a "virtual lesion" in healthy subjects it was shown that functional deficits in these areas result in increased movement variability (Miall, et al., 2007; Vesia, et al., 2008; see Koch & Rothwell, 2009 for a review). Though currently, different, partially contrary functions have been assigned to the two areas: Shadmehr and Krakauer (2008), referring to human lesion studies, assign the creation of the estimate about the sensory consequences of the movement (termed "system identification") to the cerebellum, whereas the parietal cortex is supposed to be responsible for the integration of the actual with the predicted sensory consequences ("state estimation"). In contrast, Scott (2012), based on the existing evidence in (non-) human primates, assigns the state estimation to the cerebellum. Independent of the reference base, Scott as well as Shadmehr and Krakauer emphasize the distributed nature of optimal feedback control,

involving basal ganglia, cerebellum, parietal, as well as frontal cortical areas. This seems to be necessary to effectively integrate sensory information during the process of movement preparation and execution, as also supposed by Cisek (2007) in his model for action selection. Though, it becomes obvious that the identification of neural correlates to optimal movement control remains a challenging task for the future.

1.4 Methodological considerations

The analysis of movement variability was chosen as the methodological approach in this thesis, as movement variability is an inherent characteristic of human motor behavior. For a long time, variability observed in skilled motor performance was assigned to neural noise (Faisal, Selen & Wolpert, 2008; Harris & Wolpert, 1998; van Beers, Haggard & Wolpert, 2004). Only recently, it became generally accepted that variability inherent to skilled motor behavior might be of special meaning for movement learning and control (Latash, Scholz & Schöner, 2007; Müller & Sternad 2009). Since then, many different approaches have been developed to better describe the information content inherent in movement variability. Calculating the absolute amount of variability of a specific task variable can be considered as a first approach in that context (see for example Desmurget & Prablanc, 1997). This was also the first approach used in the current thesis. Thereby, not only variability at movement end, but also during movement execution was analyzed, as the time course of movement execution may reveal important insights about the process of movement control, not only its effect.

Besides the analysis of the amount of movement variability, also the structure of movement variability is supposed to contain important information about the functioning of the human motor system (Müller & Sternad, 2009; Schöner & Scholz, 2007). Different approaches exist targeting that aspect. A common method in this context is the principal analysis, revealing preferred component directions within the multidimensional space of variability (Bortz & Schuster, 2010). This approach is usually used to reduce the dimensionality of high-dimensional data sets. In the context of reaching movements for example, it can be used to detect how many effector DoF (out of the seven DoF of the arm) are necessary to describe the majority of total effector variance. Usually, this leads to a reduction of the seven-dimensional effector space to a three- to four-dimensional space. The major disadvantage of this method is that, as this method is based on a transformation of the original data-set so that the resulting preferred directions are linear combinations of the initial dimensions, the resultant preferred directions of variance within the transformed data set have no physical meaning, which makes the findings difficult to interpret.

A way to circumvent this disadvantage was proposed by Scholz and Schöner (1999; "uncontrolled manifold hypothesis") and similarly by Cusumano and Cesari (2006). In contrast to a principal component analysis, for these two approaches it is a prerequisite to have a specific hypothesis

about the task variable that is controlled and to have a mathematically describable relationship between the effector variables and the task variable. Based on that control hypothesis, the high-dimensional space of effector variance is transformed in such a way that two orthogonal subspaces are obtained: (a) the "nullspace", containing all effector combinations, whose variance has no effect on the variance of the task variable, and (b) the orthogonal space, containing all those effector combinations which have an influence on the task variable (Scholz & Schöner, 1999). Note that each obtained subspace may still be multi-dimensional. With this analysis it is possible to find out the relative size of the (a) task-irrelevant and (b) taskrelevant components of the total effector variance. By calculating the ratio between the variance in task-irrelevant to task-relevant directions, one can infer about whether a task variable is of importance during movement control (Scholz & Schöner, 1999; Verrel, 2010). Though, as the control of complex movements in real world has to account for multiple task constraints, as mentioned already above, it is advisable to apply this method for multiple hypothetically important task variables. Only this allows getting an impression of the relative importance of each of these task variables. The interpretation of the outcome can be twofold. Initially, it was advised to take only the one task variable revealing the greatest ratio as the task variable that is controlled (Scholz & Schöner, 1999). Recently, the notion that multiple task variables can be controlled without interfering with each other has become more popularity (see for example Gera et al., 2010; Latash, Scholz & Schöner, 2002).

The uncontrolled manifold approach, which was used in the current thesis, allows relating variability in the effector space to variability in the task space at a specific point during movement execution or at movement end. Though, it does not allow inferring about the temporal transmission of effector variability with respect to the task variability at movement end. That means, by applying the uncontrolled manifold method it is not possible to get information about how much of the variability at movement end is explained by the variability at a certain time point during movement variability, termed "redundancy" in mathematical contexts, can be investigated by use of a canonical correlation analysis (Bortz & Schuster, 2010).

As a general remark, it has to be noted that by analyzing movement variability, as for any other approach, it is appropriate to use several different methods, as each single one can explain special aspects, but not others. To get a comprehensive picture about the control of complex reaching movements, movement variability was analyzed by four methods in this thesis: the absolute amount of variability in effector and task space, the uncontrolled manifold method, the principal component analysis, and the canonical correlation.

1.5 Aim of the Thesis

When recapitulating what was presented above, it becomes obvious that the human motor system has the exceptional capability to perform complex movements stable in an environment where the sensory input and external constraints are constantly changing. The aim of this thesis was to investigate how the motor system accounts for these internal and external factors during the control of complex reaching movements, so that movement performance does not change. The approach used to study this capability was the analysis of movement variability. As it was shown above, by analyzing movement variability two features of healthy human motor behavior can be described: flexibility and stability in movement execution. These to features relate to movement variability in effector and task space, and are of special importance in the control of movements executed by a redundant effector system. Indeed, redundancy may not be a problem for the human motor system, but seems to be exploited to facilitate the control of complex movements. In the current thesis, complex reaching movements were chosen as experimental task, as they exhibit all important characteristics which signalize the exceptional capability of the human motor system: redundancy, skillfulness, and complexity.

Four main directions were pursued to develop a comprehensive picture about the ability of the healthy human motor system to adjust to permanent environmental changes: influence of (1) vision, (2) proprioception, (3) external task constraints, and (4) aging on the control of complex reaching movements. Thereby, the first study that will be presented in the following chapter studied the influence of vision and an accuracy constraint on the control of a complex reaching movement. Based on the outcome of this research, the second study investigated the ability of the healthy human motor system to adjust to the temporary loss of proprioceptive information. These two studies mainly dealt with the question of how the adjustments of the motor system to the availability of sensory information are reflected in the time course of movement variability. The third study investigates how the human motor system accounts for multiple task constraints which are applied in different strength by different reaching targets. Finally, the fourth study investigated age-related differences in the control of complex reaching movements.

2 Cumulative Thesis

This cumulative thesis consists of the two published research articles, one article accepted for publication, and one submitted article. Full papers are presented in the following. The complete list of publications, including those which are not included in this thesis, is indicated separately (see Contents). The research articles are presented in the following order:

 Krüger, M., Eggert, T. & Straube, A. (2011). Joint angle variability in the time course of reaching movements. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 122(4), 759-766.

The author of this thesis designed and ran the experiment, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

2. Krüger, M., Eggert, T. & Straube, A. (submitted). Rapid adjustment of human motor control strategies in reaching movements under temporal proprioceptive deafferentation.

The author of this thesis designed and ran the experiment, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. The manuscript is submitted as a research article.

 Krüger, M., Borbély, B., Eggert, T. & Straube, A. (2012). Synergistic control of joint angle variability: Influence of target shape. *Human Movement Science*, 31(5), 1071-1089.

The author of this thesis designed and ran the experiment, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

4. Krüger, M., Eggert, T. & Straube, A. (in press). Age-related differences in the stabilization of important task variables in reaching movements. *Motor Control.*

The author of this thesis designed and ran the experiment, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. The manuscript was submitted as a research note, and is accepted for publication. Clinical Neurophysiology (2011), 122(4), 759-766

Joint angle variability in the time course of reaching movements

Melanie Krüger, Thomas Eggert and Andreas Straube

Abstract

Investigating motor control processes is of primary interest in a number of scientific and practical fields. Movement variability is of increasing interest in this context. However, until now little has been known about the time course of variability during movement execution. The objective of this study was to investigate the influence of visual information and task specification on the variability of joint angle motion in reaching movements.

Subjects repetitively reached for a handle. Movement variability was quantified by the within-subjects standard deviation of mean joint angle. The analysis focused on the time course of variability during movement execution.

The availability of visual information did not influence the time course of joint angle variability whereas task specification on reaching accuracy did. Under high accuracy demand variability was reduced more strongly after reaching its maximum.

Results suggest that the availability of visual information plays a minor role in the control of well-trained reaching movements. This suggests that proprioceptive information is the main feedback source to control these movements.

The analysis of the time course of movement variability might be a valuable method to investigate the central or peripheral causes of movement disorders for diagnostic and rehabilitation purposes.

Introduction

Variability is a characteristic of human movements and has been the subject of increasing scientific interest in the last years (Schmidt et al., 1979; Haggard et al., 1995; Ma and Feldman, 1995; Harris and Wolpert, 1998; Eggert et al., 2003; Van Beers et al., 2004; Mutha & Sainburg, 2007). In general, movement variability is defined as the deviation from a specific target position across trials and it is supposed to be influenced by both, internal and external factors (for a review see Faisal et al., 2008).

There is empirical evidence that stresses movement difficulty as one important factor influencing the amount of movement variability (Fitts, 1954, Fitts and Peterson, 1964, Tseng et al., 2003). Fitts speed-accuracy trade-off highlighted the relationship between movement distance, target size and endpoint variability in pointing movements. Further empirical evidence highlights the importance of visual information for the control of upper limb movements (e.g. Van den Dobbelsteen et al., 2003; Saunders and Knill, 2004; Scheidt et al., 2005; Sober and Sabes, 2005). In particular, Desmurget and colleagues (1997) emphasize the importance of visual information about the hand prior to movement onset for the control of endpoint variability.

So far, it is not known how movement variability is specifically controlled and which brain areas are involved in that control process. Recently, it has been hypothesized that movement variability is corrected only to a certain extent to minimize overall costs of movement execution (Harris and Wolpert, 1998; Todorov and Jordan, 2002; Tanaka et al., 2006). One way to obtain this aim is to correct only that variability that interferes with the achievement of the movement goal (Scholz and Schöner, 1999; Todorov and Jordan, 2002). Therefore, variable movement execution by achieving the movement goal is regarded as a characteristic of an intact motor control system. Alternatively, increased variability is a typical sign of motor dysfunction, especially in the case of cerebellar dysfunction and ataxia. Similar problems can also be seen in patients with severe sensory deficits due to lesions of the dorsal columns of the spinal cord or the sensory fibres of the peripheral nerves. So far, it is not clear how to discriminate between intact and deficient control of movement variability. Consequently, enhanced knowledge about the control of movement variability is of special interest in a clinical context.

The literature already has a long history in the research of endpoint variability. There is empirical evidence showing that reaching movements of healthy subjects can be characterized by high endpoint accuracy and only small final posture variability (Gordon, 1994; Gréa et al., 2000). Furthermore, increased movement variability has been observed in patients with lesions in cerebral motor areas (Gréa et al., 2002; Eggert et al., 2003). However, by looking at endpoint variability one only gets information about the final result of a motor control process. As an alternative, the time course of variability may provide information about the motor control process itself and may offer a deeper insight into the origins of a deficient motor control process– e.g. a generally increase of variability versus a different time

course of variability due to control deficits at a certain point in time during movement execution. So far, only a few studies exist that investigate the time course of variability during movement execution (for an example, see Morishige et al., 2006, Tseng et al., 2003).

Therefore, the aim of the present study was to investigate the time course of variability in joint angle during the execution of reaching movements. The main goal was to gain knowledge about the process of control of movement variability in an intact motor system. Special effort was spent to extract the variability due to internal processes of movement planning and control and to leave aside variability due to differences in the external conditions such as initial arm position or target position. Movement variability was quantified by the standard deviation of the joint angle. It was hypothesized that increased movement difficulty and decreased availability of visual information will result in different time courses of variability.

Methods

Participants

Thirty-four subjects (28 female, six male, mean 29 years) participated in this study. Subjects were paid for their participation. They had no previous experience with the experimental task and were not aware of the purpose of the study. Written consent was obtained prior to participation in the experiment. All subjects were right-hand dominant as determined by the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971) and had normal or corrected-to-normal vision.

Apparatus

The experimental apparatus (see Fig. 1A) consisted of a horizontal desk on which a linear table track was mounted. A cylindrical metal handle (9.5cm of width), driven by a 2-phase step motor with a resolution of 0.1 mm per step, was moveable on the table track in horizontal, fronto-parallel direction (position range: \pm 19.5 cm). Subjects were comfortably seated on a chair in front of the desk with their body midline aligned to the center of the table track. The position of the subjects was adjusted so that they could easily reach both sides of the table track. The start position was defined by a handrail attached to the seat (Fig. 1B). White noise was presented through headphones to avoid anticipation of the handle position by the sound of the apparatus. Depending on the experimental condition, shutter glasses (Translucent Technologies, Toronto, Canada) were used to influence the availability of visual information.

Movement of the arm was recorded by an ultrasonic recording device (Zebris Medical, Isny, Germany) at 33Hz. Three microphones recorded the ultrasonic impulses of six sound-emitting markers in 3-D. Marker positions are described in Fig. 1B. From those positions the individual length of subjects' upper arm, lower arm, and hand could be determined. Data from the Zebris device were transferred online to a computer running a recording system (REX, Hays et al., 1982) and were used as real-time control signals

to trigger the opening and closing of the shutter glasses and the positioning of the target handle between successive trials. The moment of contact between hand and handle was monitored by recording the electrical resistance between the subject and the handle (sampled at 1 kHz).



Fig. 1: Experimental Apparatus. A Schematic top view on the experimental set up. Subject's distance to the table track was adjustable with reference to subject's arm length. The handle could move along the table track. Possible positions of the handle are depicted (filled in black or unfilled, with dotted lines). B The side view shows the marker positions for the six ultra-sonic sound emitting markers. The markers were attached to following points: (1) basal joint of index finger, (2) basal joint of little finger, (3) center of wrist, (4) medial, above the elbow, (5) lateral, above the elbow, and (6) acromion. Sitting posture represents the start position, where subjects were grasping a wooden handrail. In the start position upper arm was adducted with the elbow flexed at approximately 90°. Fingers were moveable independent of each other during movement execution. In the start position, finger movement was restricted by the grasp of the handrail.

Procedure

At the beginning of each trial, subjects were asked to bring their dominant right arm into the start position (see Fig. 1B). To begin a trial subjects had to press a start button with their left hand that caused the handle to move to one of the three possible positions (left side of the table track, center, and right side). After a specific go-signal subjects had to reach for and grasp the handle in a natural manner. To provoke most natural reaching movements no particular demands were made concerning reaction time or movement speed. Subsequently, subjects moved their arm back to the start position. By pressing the start button again a new trial was initiated.

Availability of visual information was manipulated between experimental conditions so that the subjects in condition 1 ("initial vision") were able to see the handle only before movement onset (as detected in real time by REX), which excluded visual control during movement execution. In a further experimental condition, subjects were able to see the handle only for 100 ms immediately before movement onset, so that movement planning and visual control were manipulated (condition 2, "flash"). Full vision during movement planning and execution was provided in experimental conditions 3 ("full vision") and 4 ("accuracy demand"). Thus, the availability of visual information decreased from experimental condition 3

to condition 1 and condition 2. In condition 4 the experimental task was specified by instructing the subjects to grasp the handle in such a way that their right index finger was aligned with a visual marker affixed to the handle. With respect to the other experimental conditions, this led to an increase of the movement difficulty due to an increased accuracy demand. Whereas the marker had a width of 5 mm, the approximated accuracy demand in conditions 1-3 corresponded to about 1-2 cm, estimated as the difference between the handle width and the width of the subject's hand (not counting the thumb). The experimental conditions were arranged in a between-groups-design. Thus, each subject performed only one of the experimental conditions. The resulting group sizes were n = 8, 9, 9, 8 for the "initial vision", "flash", "full vision", and "accuracy demand" condition, respectively.

Before data recording, the subjects each performed five practice trails to familiarize themselves with the experimental task and apparatus. Afterwards, four blocks of 30 trials each block (120 trials in total) were recorded. Thus, each of the three possible handle positions was triggered 40 times per session in a pseudo-random order to avoid predictability and preplanning of the movement. Between the experimental blocks a break of a maximum of 5min was offered to avoid fatigue.

Analysis

Data analysis

Data analysis was performed using Matlab 7.9.0 (Mathworks, Natick, USA). In a first step the seven joint angles of the arm were converted to Cardan angles as commonly used in the literature (Raikova, 1992; Riener and Straube 1997). This reduced the 18 (6 \times 3) marker signals to the irreducibly necessary seven degrees of freedom, expressed as seven consecutive Cardan angles in the following order: two angles for the wrist (vertical, horizontal), two for the elbow (torsion, flexion), and three for the shoulder (torsion, horizontal, vertical). The zero position of all angles was defined by the arm pointing straight forward with extended elbow and wrist, the palm facing upward. Starting from that position, positive angles indicate the following directions: vertical upward, horizontal rightward and clockwise torsional motion. The vector containing these seven joint angles is hereafter referred to as "arm position". Trials in which the reconstruction of joint angles was corrupted because of temporary occlusion of any marker were excluded from further data analysis. In addition, position of the hand in space (i.e. 3-D) was defined by the position of the centre between the two markers of the hand (see Fig. 1B) in world-fixed Cartesian coordinates.

Of primary interest for data analysis was the within-subject inter-trial variability of joint angles for the period of movement duration. Movement duration was defined as the time between movement initiation and the last position measurement immediately before the first contact with the handle (detected by the sudden decrease of the electrical resistance between subject and handle). In this way, any movements occurring under potential influence of tactile feedback were excluded from the analysis. Movement start was defined as the time when the hand velocity initially exceeded 10%

of its maximum velocity (v_{max}) . Subsequently, movement initiation was defined by subtracting 10% of the acceleration time (the time between movement start and reaching v_{max}) from movement start. In this way, it was assured that the actual movement onset occurred always shortly after the time of movement initiation. The full temporal resolution of the joint angle trajectories was reduced to ten equidistant samples. Thus, each trial's movement duration was normalized to a time range between zero and one. Data of the first sample was not concerned in further analytical steps as it, by definition of movement initiation, refers to a time point immediately before movement onset.

Even though the initial hand position was roughly defined by the position of the handrail, the initial arm position differed slightly between trials. These differences, which are expected to affect the inter-trial variability of the movement, are not related to variability occurring on the level of movement planning and control, but are due to imperfections concerning the standardization of experimental border conditions. Likewise, the temporal normalization may not be sufficient to compensate for all inter-trial differences related to the differences in planned movement duration. For that reason, the within-subject deviations of the joint angles from their mean were submitted to a linear regression analysis with the predictor initial arm position and movement duration (i.e. 7+1=8 continuous predictor variables). This analysis was performed separately for each subject, experimental condition, handle position, and for each of the nine samples. Therefore, each of these regressions contained the data of 40 trials. Subsequently, the joint angle deviations from the mean that were predicted by this linear model were subtracted from the actual joint angles. Thereby, we corrected for within-subject variability due to differences in movement duration and initial arm position. In this way, we were able to extract the inter-trial variability of movements that were planned to reach the same goal, from the same start position, and within the same movement duration.

After this correction on the raw data the means and the standard deviations of the seven joint angles were calculated separately for each subject, each target position, and for each of the nine samples. Furthermore, a global measure of the standard deviation of the arm position was defined by the root mean square (RMS) of the standard deviation across all joint angles. This measure is called "standard deviation of arm position" hereafter. Note that all standard deviations reported in this study refer to within-subject standard deviations.

Statistical Analysis

The standard deviation of arm position and the standard deviations of the seven joint angles, as well as the standard deviation of the final hand position (in 3-D) were further analyzed with regard to the experimental conditions and handle positions. Since the distributions of the standard deviations of the joint angles, of the arm position, and that of the final hand position showed significant deviations from normal distributions, theses variables were logarithmically transformed prior to statistical analysis. The normality of the transformed standard deviations was checked using the

Lilliefors test. The logarithmically transformed standard deviations of each joint angle were submitted to a 4(experimental condition) \times 3(handle position) \times 9(time course) ANOVA with the experimental condition as a between-subjects factor and with handle position and time course as repeated factors. For further characterization of the effects of the factor time course an ANOVA with the single factor experimental condition was performed on the logarithmically transformed standard deviations of joint angles, separately for each of the nine samples. This analysis will be referred to as simple main effect analysis. Movement duration and the standard deviations of final hand position were submitted to a repeated measurement ANOVA with the experimental condition as between-subject factor and handle position as repeated, within-subject factor. The threshold for statistical significance was set at p < .05. Multivariate tests (Wilks' lambda) were calculated if the sphericity assumption was rejected by Mauchly's sphericity test. Statistical analysis was computed by using SPSS 9.0.

For the graphic representation of the data estimates of the median standard deviations and their 95% confidence limits across the population and handle positions or across the population and experimental conditions were computed by first estimating these parameters for the log-transformed standard deviations. Subsequently the reverse (exponential) transformation was applied on these parameters.

Results

Description of general characteristics

The subjects' age ranged from 18 to 51 years. Older subjects within the cohort did not show a different time course of joint angle variability than younger subjects. Figure 2 depicts the time course of the standard deviation of arm position of single subjects in each of the four conditions. The youngest and oldest subjects in each condition are highlighted. Beyond that, time course of the standard deviation of arm position showed an increase-decrease pattern with its maximum in the first half of the movement. Afterwards, joint angle variability slightly decreased or stabilized at that level.

The analysis of movement duration revealed that subjects with high accuracy demand needed significantly more time (~ 150ms) to reach for the handle than subjects in other experimental conditions, as indicated by a main effect of the factor experimental condition, F(3,30) = 4.65, p < .01 (see Fig. 3). The main effect of position also reached significance, F(2,29) = 290.53, p < .01. Post hoc analysis revealed that reaching for the handle at the left position took longer than for the center handle position and this again took significantly longer than reaching for the handle at the right position (see Fig. 3). The interaction between the factors experimental condition × handle position was not significant.



Fig. 2: Time courses of within-subject movement variability for each subject in each experimental condition are shown. Depicted are the standard deviations of the arm position (i.e. RMS of the standard deviation across joint angles) for each of the nine samples. Subjects in one group show similar time courses, independent of age. The youngest (triangles) and oldest (squares) subjects in each condition are highlighted.



Fig. 3: Mean movement durations and corresponding standard deviations depending on experimental condition and handle position are presented. Under high accuracy demand, subjects needed significantly more time to reach for and grasp the handle (~ 150ms) compared to the other experimental conditions.

Analysis of endpoint variability

The variability of the final hand position, quantified by the standard deviations of the hand position at the ninth sample (in frontal, horizontal and vertical direction), was analyzed for further clarification of performance differences between experimental conditions (see Table 1). The results revealed increased endpoint variability (median ~ 6.5mm) of the hand when subjects were able to see the handle only for 100ms at movement onset (condition 2). In contrast, subjects with high accuracy demand (condition 4) showed least variability of final hand position (median ~2.5mm). These effects were significant in all three dimensions of the space. Handle position did influence endpoint variability of the hand only in the frontal direction.

Table 1: F-values and the corresponding p-values for analyzed within-subject standard deviations of final hand position are presented. In addition, median of within-subject standard deviations of final hand position (in 3-D) are shown for the four experimental conditions. Final hand position is determined by calculating the centre between the two hand markers at the ninth sample.

	Effects	Median standard deviation [mm]					
	Experimental condition	Handle position	Experimental condition x Handle position	Initial vision	Flash	Full vision	Accuracy demand
Frontal direction	F(3,30)= 9.605	F(2,29)= 6.097	F(6,58)= .513	4.47	6.13	3.70	2.64
	p= .000	p= .006	p= .796				
Horizontal direction	F(3,30)= 15.308	F(2,60)= 2.476	F(6,60)=0.067	4.97	7.25	4.59	2.92
	p= .000	p= .093	p= .821				
Vertical direction	F(3,30)= 11.742	F(2,29)= .226	F(6,58)= 1.058	4.16	5.55	3.27	2.47
	p= .000	p= .799	p= .398				

Time course of joint angle variability

Analysis across joint angles

The standard deviation of arm position (RMS of the standard deviation across joint angles) showed an increase-decrease pattern with stabilization around the fifth sample of the time course (see Fig. 4H) as indicated by a significant main effect of the factor time course, F(8,23) = 150.00, p < .01. Moreover, simple main effect analysis revealed differences between experimental conditions for the last three samples of time course. At the end of the reaching movement subjects with a high accuracy demand were less variable than subjects in the other experimental conditions. No further effects reached significance.

Table 2: F-values and the corresponding p-values for analyzed within-subject standard deviations of joint angles of the arm are presented. "Torsion", "horizontal", and "vertical"/"flexion" represent rotations around the respective spatial axis.

Standard	Effects								
deviations of joint angles	Experimental condition	Handle position	Time course	Experimental condition × Handle position	Experimental condition × Time course	Handle position × Time course	Experimental condition × Handle position × Time course		
Shoulder torsion	F(3,30)=.594	F(2,60)=1.703	F(8,23)=129.1	F(6,60)=.822	F(24,67)=2.753	F(16,15)=3.731	F(48,45)=.685		
	p=.730	p= .191	p= .000	p= .558	p= .001	p= .007	p= .901		
Shoulder horizontal	F(3,30)=.336	F(2,60)=17.896	F(8,23)=178.8	F(6,60)=1.237	F(24,67)=1.928	F(16,15)=2.626	F(48,45)=2.419		
	p= .800	p= .000	p= .000	p= .300	p= .019	p= .034	p= .002		
Shoulder vertical	F(3,30)=.271	F(2,60)=2.487	F(8,23)=215.8	F(6,60)=1.377	F(24,67)=1.490	F(16,15)=10.280	F(48,45)=1.614		
	p= .846	p= .092	p= .000	p= .239	p= .103	p= .000	p= .053		
Elbow torsion	F(3,30)=2.108	F(2,60)=2.217	F(8,23)=43.494	F(6,60)=1.100	F(24,67)=1.517	F(16,15)=4.202	F(48,45)=.918		
	p= .120	p= .118	p= .000	p= .373	p= .093	p= .004	p= .616		
Elbow flexion	F(3,30)=.109	F(2,60)=3.376	F(8,23)=233.1	F(6,60)=2.945	F(24,67)=1.612	F(16,15)=4.434	F(48,45)=1.229		
	p= .954	p= .041	р.000	p= .014	p= .065	p= .003	p= .243		
Wrist vertical	F(3,30)=.158	F(2,60)=2.285	F(8,23)=52.547	F(6,60)=1.174	F(24,67)=1.394	F(16,15)=1.806	F(48,45)=1.689		
	p= .923	p= .111	p= .000	p= .332	p= .145	p= .130	p= .037		
Wrist horizontal	F(3,30)=.330	F(2,60)=.074	F(8,23)=67.586	F(6,60)=1.015	F(24,67)=1.718	F(16,15)=1.170	F(48,45)=1.095		
	p= .803	p= .929	p= .000	p= .425	p= .043	p= .383	p= .380		

Analysis of single joint angles

The standard deviations of the single joint angles showed a main effect of time course for each of the seven joint angles (see Table 2). For all joints standard deviation increased with time with a more or less pronounced decrease at the end of the reaching movement (see Fig. 4A-4G). Moreover, with high accuracy demand (condition 4) standard deviation of joint angles decreased much more strongly after reaching its maximum for shoulder torsion, and horizontal wrist angle as indicated by a significant interaction of experimental condition \times time course. (see Fig. 4A, 4G). Simple main effect analysis revealed significantly less standard deviation with high accuracy demand from the seventh sample on. In addition, the interaction of experimental condition and time course reached significance for the horizontal shoulder angle but could not be clarified by further analysis.



Fig. 4: Within-subjects standard deviations of joint angles (y-axis) for the different experimental conditions are shown for each of the nine samples (x-axis). Symbols represent the median of the within-subjects standard deviation across the population. Whiskers indicate the 95% confidence limits of this median. Data is depicted for each of the four experimental conditions and for each of the nine samples Panels 4A-4G present the standard deviations for each single joint angle. Panel 4H presents the median of the standard deviation of the arm position (i.e. RMS of the standard deviation across joint angles). The time courses show a similar pattern of increase-decrease over time, whereby each joint angle reaches its maximum at another sample. Task specification on final position accuracy ("accuracy demand") influences the time course of standard deviation in shoulder torsion as well as in horizontal wrist motion.



Fig. 5: Time courses of within-subjects standard deviations of joint angles for the three handle positions are depicted for shoulder torsion, (5A), horizontal shoulder angle (5B), vertical shoulder angle (5C), elbow torsion (5D), and elbow flexion (5E). Medians of the within-subject standard deviation (y-axis) are depicted. Whiskers indicate 95% of the confidence limits of this median for each of the nine samples (x-axis). Time courses differed mainly between the left handle position and the others. At the left handle position, standard deviation either decreased stronger after reaching its maximum (5A, 5C, 5E) or had a higher value at the end of the reaching movement (5B). Right handle position and centre position did not differ from each other in the time course.

Furthermore, analysis indicated that standard deviation of joint angles was greatest when reaching for the left handle position compared to the center and right handle position for horizontal shoulder motion, and elbow flexion (see Table 2) as indicated by a significant main effect of handle position. Finally, analysis revealed a different time course of standard deviation of joint angle when reaching for the left handle, where maximum was reached earlier with a more pronounced decrease afterwards, as indicated by a significant interaction of handle position \times time course for shoulder torsion, shoulder horizontal motion, vertical shoulder motion, as well as for elbow torsion, and elbow flexion, (see Table 2 and Fig. 5A-5E). Finally, the interaction experimental condition \times handle position reached significance for elbow flexion. Simple main effect analysis did not reveal any consistency in the amount of standard deviation of elbow flexion across experimental conditions and handle positions. No other effects reached significance.

Discussion

The purpose of the present study was to investigate the time course of movement variability in unconstrained reaching movements. Movement variability in this context was defined as the standard deviation of joint
angle at different samples during movement execution. While considerable knowledge exists about movement endpoint variability in reaching movements, less is known about the time course of variability during movement execution. For that reason, we introduced a new analysis method with which we are able to describe the time course of joint angle variability in healthy subjects. The analysis was especially designed to extract the inter-trial variability of movements that were planned to reach the same goal, from the same start position, and within the same movement duration.

General characteristics

Analysis of the time course of joint angle variability during movement execution revealed an increase-decrease pattern with a maximum standard deviation in the middle of movement execution. This pattern was independent of age, handle position or joint. It applied for the standard deviations of single joints as well as for the global measure of the standard deviation of arm position and suggests that joint angle variability was limited by control mechanisms which became efficient during the second half of the movement. A similar pattern of variability during movement execution was found by Morishige and colleagues (2006). They analyzed the time course of variability in hand position, whereas we focused our analysis on the variability in the joint angle space of the arm. We did so because variability of hand position is determined by variability of all joints. Even if one supposes a hand-centered reference frame of motor control (Gordon et al., 1994; Haggard et al., 1995), it is not known how such control strategy is realized on the basis of the seven degrees of freedom of the arm. Our observation that joint angle variability saturates or even decreases in all joints suggests that motor control processes influence all seven degrees of freedom of the arm.

Movement duration was greatest for subjects with high accuracy demand (condition 4). It seems as if those subjects reached more slowly to the handle to be able to fulfill the task specification. This finding is in line with the assumptions of Fitts' Law (Fitts 1954; Fitts and Peterson 1964). In addition, movement duration was greatest for the left handle position. Reaching for the right handle position took least movement time. This is clearly due to the different distances from start position to handle position, with the longest distance to reach for the left handle position.

Endpoint variability of the hand

We found differences in endpoint variability of the hand as a function of the availability of visual information. Subjects with only limited visual information at movement onset (condition 2) were most variable in final hand position. This is in line with Desmurget and colleagues (1997) who could show that subjects are most variable, when they are not able to see the limb before movement onset. Faisal and Wolpert (2009) showed that subjects, who virtually had to catch a ball under a time constraint, choose an optimal compromise of balancing sensory and motor accuracy to minimize overall task variability. In the present study, manipulation of the availability of visual information before movement onset was not compensated by increased movement duration to improve accuracy of motor execution, but

resulted in increased endpoint variability. This is similar to the results of the "Sensory variability experiment" of Faisal and Wolpert (2009) in which, as in our experiment, there was no restriction on movement duration. Hence, the balance of sensory and motor variability results most likely from a coupling induced by external constraints than from an internal control strategy. In addition, least endpoint variability of the hand was found in subjects with high accuracy demand (condition 4). This was to be expected, because those subjects were explicitly instructed to have as little variability as possible in the final hand position. It is important to reiterate that the final position accuracy was only achieved with longer movement duration.

Time course of joint angle variability

Influence of handle position

Analysis of the time course of joint angle variability for the different handle positions revealed significant differences for two of the seven joint angles. In the design of this study, we did not particularly control for differences in movement difficulty due to different target distances, because it was not the purpose of this study to compare handle positions. Nevertheless, apparent differences in the time course of joint angle variability depending on handle position need to be discussed.

The time course of standard deviations of joint angles showed a pronounced increase-decrease pattern for the left handle position, whereas variability increased continuously or showed less decrease at the end of the movement at the other two handle positions. Moreover, maximum joint angle variability was greatest for shulder torsion as well horizontal shoulder angle and was reached earlier in time when reaching to the left handle position. This may be due to the bigger movement amplitude necessary to reach for the left handle position. Conceivably, increasing movement amplitude correlates with increasing variability in proximal joint angle motion of the arm.

Influence of visual information and task specification

To test the influence of movement difficulty and visual information on the time course of variability, task specification (i.e. accuracy demand) and the availability of visual information were changed between experimental conditions. Under increased accuracy demand (condition 4) the standard deviations of shoulder torsion and horizontal wrist angle decreased to a greater degree after reaching its maximum. The instruction in this experimental condition forced subjects to bring their hand as close as possible to a specific marker on the handle. Probably, adjustments in those two angles were most promising to achieve that goal.

Additionally, results indicated less joint angle variability in some samples of the movement when task was specified by an accuracy demand (condition 4). Especially at the end of the reaching movement, joint angle variability was generally less variable. Since movement duration was longer in experimental condition 4, it seems as if decreased joint angle variability was achieved at the expense of longer movement duration. This is in line with Fitts' Law (Fitts 1954, Fitts and Peterson 1964).

Overall, joint angle variability seemed to be controlled more closely when the experimental task was specified on accuracy compared to the other experimental conditions. However, since we did not analyze covariances or built up on the theories of functional synergies (e.g. Scholz and Schöner, 1999; Todorov and Jordan, 2002) it is not possible to infer about the underlying control strategy (e.g. hand centered reference frame). This needs to be a subject of future exploration.

No other differences in the time course of joint angle variability between experimental conditions turned out to be significant. Surprisingly, standard deviations of joint angles during movement execution were not significantly greater when visual control was manipulated (as in condition 1 and 2). This suggests that the availability of visual information plays only a minor role in the control of these well-trained, everyday reaching movements. In contrast, the results suggest that this class of movements is predominantly controlled by proprioception or a low-level mechanism (e.g. at spinal cord level). This knowledge could potentially be used to apply the analysis method in diagnostic or rehabilitation contexts to shed light on and differentiate between the peripheral or central causes of movement disorders.

Altogether the analysis of the time course of movement variability offers the possibility for important insights into the mechanisms underlying human motor control and might be a valuable method for diagnostic and rehabilitation purposes. The described method is able to depict characteristic feature of movement variability over time and is sensitive to movement difficulty. This makes the investigation of the time course of movement variability an interesting and promising goal for the future.

References

Desmurget M, Rossetti Y, Jordan M, Meckler C, Prablanc C. Viewing the hand prior to movement improves accuracy of pointing performed toward the unseen contralateral hand. *Experimental Brain Research*, *115*, 180-186.

Eggert T, Tihanyi T, Straube A. Solving the redundancy problem for unrestricted reaching movements: a comparison of patients with cerebral infarcts and healthy subjects. *Annals New York Academy of Sciences, 1004,* 511-515.

Faisal AA, Selen LP, Wolpert DM. Noise in the nervous system. *Nature Review Neuroscience*, *9*, 292-303.

Faisal AA, Wolpert DM. Near optimal combination of sensory and motor uncertainty in time during a naturalistic perception-action task. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *101*, 1901-1912.

Fitts PM. The information capacity of the human motor system in controlling the amplitude of movement. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *47*, 381-391.

Fitts PM, Peterson JR. Information capacity of discrete motor responses. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 67, 103-112.

Gordon J, Ghilardi MF, Ghez C. Accuracy of planar reaching movements. I. Independence of direction and extent variability. *Experimental Brain Research*, *99*, 97-111.

Gréa H, Desmurget M, Prablanc C. Postural invariance in three-dimensional reaching and grasping movements. *Experimental Brain Research*, *134*, 155-162.

Gréa H, Pisella L, Rossetti Y, Desmurget M, Tilikete C, Grafton S, Prablanc C, Vighetto A. A lesion of the posterior parietal cortex disrupts on-line adjustments during aiming movements. *Neuropsychologia*, *40*, 2471-2480.

Haggard P, Hutchinson K, Stein J. Patterns of coordinated multi-joint movement. *Experimental Brain Research*, 107, 254-266.

Harris CM, Wolpert DM. Signal-dependent noise determines motor planning. *Nature*, *394*, 780-784.

Hays AV, Richmont BJ, Optican LM. A unix-based multiple process system for real-time data acquisition and control. *WESCON Proceedings Conference*, *2*, 100-105.

Ma S, Feldman AG. Two functionally different synergies during arm reaching movements involving the trunk. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *73*, 2120-2122.

Morishige K, Osu R, Miyamoto H, Kawato M. The sources of variability in the time course of reaching movements. *International Congress Series*, *1291*, 105-108.

Mutha PK, Sainburg RL. Control of velocity and position in single joint movements. *Human Movement Science*, *26*, 808-823.

Oldfield RC. The assessment and analysis of handedness: The Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologica*, *9*, 97-113.

Raikova R. A general approach for modeling and mathematical investigation of the human upper limb. *Journal of Biomechanics*, *25*, 857-867.

Riener R, Straube A. Inverse dynamics as a tool for motion analysis: arm tracking movements in cerebellar patients. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, *72*, 87-96.

Saunders JA, Knill DC. Visual feedback control of hand movements. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *24*, 3223-3234.

Scheidt RA, Conditt MA, Secco EL, Mussa-Ivaldi FA. Interaction of visual and proprioceptive feedback during adaptation of human reaching movements. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *93*, 3200-3213.

Schmidt RA, Zelaznik H, Hawkins B, Frank JS, Quinn JT Jr. Motor-output variability: a theory for the accuracy of rapid motor acts. *Psychological Review*, *86*, 415-451.

Scholz JP, Schöner G. The uncontrolled manifold concept: identifying control variables for a functional task. *Experimental Brain Research*, *126*, 289-306.

Sober SJ, Sabes PN. Flexible strategies for sensory integration during motor planning. *Nature Neuroscience*, *8*, 490-497.

Tanaka H, Krakauer JW, Qian N. An optimization principle for determining movement duration. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *95*, 3875-3886.

Todorov E, Jordon MI. Optimal feedback control as a theory of motor coordination. *Nature Neuroscience*, *5*, 1226-1235.

Tseng YW, Scholz JP, Schöner G, Hotchkiss L. Effect of accuracy constraint on joint coordination during pointing movements. *Experimental Brain Research*, *149*, 276-288.

Van Beers RJ, Haggard P, Wolpert DM. The role of execution noise in movement variability. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *91*, 1050-1063.

Van den Dobbelsteen JJ, Brenner E, Smeets, JBJ. Adaptation of movement endpoints to perturbations of visual feedback. *Experimental Brain Research*, *148*, 471-481.

Submitted

Rapid adjustment of human motor control strategies in reaching movements under temporal proprioceptive deafferentation

Melanie Krüger, Thomas Eggert and Andreas Straube

Abstract

Proprioception is an important source of information for the control of movements. Patients with chronic deafferentation due to neuropathy show impaired motor control in reaching movements. In contrast, studies of temporary deafferentation of healthy humans producing simple motor tasks showed rapid adjustment to the loss of proprioception on a behavioral and cortical level. The goal of the current study was to investigate whether healthy subjects are able to immediately and efficiently change the control of a complex reaching movement to compensate for the experimentally induced loss of proprioceptive information. To this end, we induced an ischemic block to the upper arm of 15 healthy subjects and recorded reachto-grasp movements towards a spherical target in the 7 degrees of freedom of the arm. In agreement with the findings in chronically deafferented patients, the results showed increased movement duration, decreased movement amplitude, as well as altered movement coordination under ischemia, which resulted in a reduced complexity of movement control. Movement endpoint variability was not increased under ischemia. This suggests that healthy subjects are able to immediately and efficiently adjust the control of complex reaching movements to compensate for the loss of proprioceptive information.

Introduction

When reaching towards a target, the integration of different sensory information during movement control provides the basis for stable movement execution. Therefore, the manipulation of the availability of sensory information is of interest for behavioral and clinical neuroscientists (Krüger et al. 2011; Grea et al. 2002; Prablanc et al. 2003; Keresztenyi et al. 2009; Schaefer et al. 2009) who want to gain insights into the control of healthy human motor behavior.

Empirical evidence suggests that the healthy motor system controls movements such that variability of a hypothesized task variable at movement end is minimized (Todorov 2004; Todorov and Jordan 2002; Harris and Wolpert 1998). In a redundant effector-system like the arm, one possibility to reduce variability in the task variable is to synergistically coordinate the effector variables (Latash et al. 2010; Latash et al. 2007). This coordination leads to a number of kinematic degrees of freedom (DoF) that is smaller than the number of mechanical DoF of the effector-system. Empirical evidence suggests that, in complex reaching movements, the joint angles of the arm are synergistically coordinated so that variability in hand position and hand orientation is reduced (Keresztenyi et al. 2009; Krüger et al., 2012).

Proprioception about joint positions is an important source of information for the control of complex reaching movements (Bagesteiro et al. 2006; Ghez and Sainburg 1995). In a recent study we could show that, for everyday reaching movements, the availability of visual information before or during movement execution was of minor importance for the control of movement variability (Krüger et al. 2011). This led us to the conclusion that proprioception plays a major role in guiding the planning and control of these reaching movements. Supporting this assumption, studies on chronically deafferented patients suffering from severe peripheral sensory neuropathy showed impaired motor control of arm movements, including slowed movement execution (Hepp-Reymond et al. 2009; Gentilucci et al. 1994), increased movement variability (Medina et al. 2010; Gentilucci et al. 1994) and deteriorated movement coordination (Ghez and Sainburg 1995; Sainburg et al. 1995; Sainburg et al. 1993). Studies of temporary peripheral deafferentation of healthy humans showed immediate adjustment to the loss of proprioception on a behavioral (Moisello et al. 2008, applying limb immobilization) and cortical level (Bjorkman et al. 2004b; Bjorkman et al. 2004a, applying a local anaesthetic cream; Ziemann et al. 1998, applying an ischemic nerve block). However, these studies mainly requested the production of simple motor tasks with a limited range of kinematic DoF. Studies on the production of complex motor behavior, such as reaching movements, are rare as it is difficult to experimentally induce an effective proprioceptive loss of larger body parts like the multi-joint effector system arm. One way to influence the flow of proprioceptive afference in larger body parts is the application of a complete ischemic block using a tourniquet (Fellows et al. 1993; Jacobson et al. 1994).

The aim of this study was to investigate whether healthy subjects are able to immediately and efficiently adjust the control of complex arm movements to temporary proprioceptive deafferentiation due to an ischemic block.

Methods

Participants

Fifteen healthy subjects (mean age \pm SD: 26 \pm 5years; 8 female) voluntarily participated in the study. All subjects were right-hand dominant as determined by the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield 1971) and had normal or corrected-to-normal vision. None of the subjects had any record of neurological disorder. All participants were paid for their participation and had given written informed consent prior to participation. The experimental procedure was in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the Ludwig-Maximilians University Munich.

Experimental set-up

Subjects were seated on a chair in front of a table, with the trunk supported by a chair back. A linear table track was mounted on the table, with a spherical object (reaching target, diameter: 80mm) attached to it. Due to its geometric properties, the reaching target constrained final hand position but not final hand orientation. The size of the target forced the subjects to grasp it with the whole hand, and not just with two fingers, which is why single finger motion was not of interest in the current study. The reaching target could be freely moved horizontally (in the fronto-parallel plane) between the bounds of the table track. These bounds (distance: 39cm) were the two positions at which the reaching target could be located. The sitting position of the subjects was adjusted so that: (a) trunk movement was not necessary to reach the target, and (b) body midline was centered to the table track. To minimize within-subject between-trial variability due to differences in the initial position, the starting position was defined by a wooden lever, attached to the right side of the chair, which had to be grasped with the dominant right hand before each trial (see Fig. 1A).

Joint angle motion of the arm in its seven degrees of freedom was recorded by an ultrasonic sound-emitting system (Zebris Medical, Isny, Germany). Six sound-emitting markers were attached to the arm and hand of the subject; each marker recorded at a frequency of 33Hz (200Hz in total). The following marker positions were chosen and are also depicted in Fig. 1B: markers 1 and 2 were attached to the metacarpophalangeal joints of the index (1) and little finger (2). The third marker was at the center of the wrist. Markers 4 and 5 were attached to the medial (4) or lateral (5) end of a bracelet directly above the elbow. The sixth marker was attached at the acromion. From those marker positions the individual length of the subject's upper arm, lower arm, and hand could be determined. Based on these lengths, a geometrical model of the arm was created, as described in more detail below (see Section 2.4.1). Further, the signal of the first marker was used to trigger the opening and closing of shutter glasses (Translucent Technologies, Toronto, Canada) that were used to prevent visual online control of the movement. The first contact with the reaching target was detected by changes in the electrical resistance between the subject and the target (sampled at 1 kHz).



Fig. 1 Experimental set up A Overhead view of the experimental set up. Sitting position was individually adjusted so that the moveable target could be reached without trunk motion. The target could be located at the two bounds of the table track. Initial starting position was defined by grasping the handrail. B Positions of the six ultrasonic sound-emitting markers and the blood pressure cuff are depicted.

Procedure and design

Subjects repeatedly had to reach towards and grasp the reaching target with their dominant right hand. At the beginning of each trial, subjects had to adopt the starting position (see Fig. 1A). Subsequently, subjects were instructed to press a button with their non-dominant hand, after which the target changed its position. After an acoustic go-signal, subjects had to perform the reaching movement in a natural manner. To provoke the most natural movement behavior, subjects were informed before movement recording that movement speed and reaction time were not of interest in the study. Shutter glasses occluded as soon as the subjects started their movement, thus preventing visual online control of the movement. After the subjects had grasped the target, the shutter glasses opened again and the subjects returned to the starting position. A new trial was initiated by pressing the button again.

All subjects participated in two experimental conditions in separate sessions, the order of which was counterbalanced across subjects. Experimental sessions were separated by one to two days. In the first condition ("Ischemia"), a customary blood pressure cuff was applied to the upper arm of the subject and inflated up to 150-160mmHg (i.e. slightly above systolic blood pressure). The duration of inflation was in a range of 20-25min. This timeframe included 10min of preparation to guarantee impairment in the proprioceptive afference, and a subsequent 10-15min of movement recordings. The blood pressure cuff induced an ischemic block, which is known to first affect the large, fast conducting afferent fibers,

especially Ia afferents arising from the muscle spindle afferents (Fellows et al. 1993). Other effects, such as changes in producible muscle force (Bjorkman et al. 2004a) can be disregarded in the current set-up because of the brevity of the ischemic block. Before movement recording started, the proprioceptive impairment was tested indirectly by testing subjects' touch sensitivity with von-Frey filaments (Marstock, Schriesheim, Germany, Rolke et al. 2006). On the back of the subjects' hands it was tested which of the 12 logarithmically scaled filaments subjects were at least able to perceive. Subjects' touch sensitivity had to be reduced by at least one filament from the time point at which the blood pressure cuff was applied before the experiment was continued. This procedure allowed us to be sure about the effectiveness of the ischemic block. At the same time, the duration of preparation was minimized, which was of importance to prevent unwanted side-effects of the ischemic block, as for example ischemic pain. The second experimental condition ("Control") served as a control condition, executed identically but without inflated blood pressure cuff.

Two blocks with 40 trials in each block were recorded in each session (i.e. 80 trials per session). Each experimental block consisted of 20 trials of each of the two target positions, arranged in a random order to avoid predictability of the target position. Between the blocks a break of maximally five minutes was offered to avoid fatigue. Before movement recording started, subjects were allowed to perform five trials to familiarize themselves with the experimental task and apparatus.

Analysis

Data analysis

Data analysis was calculated using Matlab 7.9.0 (Mathworks, Natick, USA) and was in line with earlier studies by our group (Krüger et al. 2012; Krüger et al. 2011). In a first step, the seven joint angles of the arm were computed from the marker position using a three-segment rigid body model, and expressed as seven consecutive Cardan angles. The order of the angles was as follows: two angles for the wrist (vertical, and horizontal), two angles for the elbow (torsion, and flexion), and three angles for the shoulder (torsion, horizontal, and vertical). The zero position of the arm was defined as the arm pointing straight forward with the elbow extended and the palm facing up. Based on that, positive joint angle indicated the following directions: vertical upward, horizontal rightward, and torsion clockwise. The vector containing the seven joint angles is hereafter referred to as arm posture. The position of the hand in space (i.e. 3D) was defined by the center of the two hand markers in world fixed Cartesian coordinates. In addition, the orientation of the hand in space was defined in Helmholtz coordinates relative to the external world.

Four aspects of movement execution were analyzed, separately for each condition, subject, target position and trial. The four aspects were chosen on the basis of the existing literature about deafferented patients and recent empirical findings about the planning and control of reach-to-grasp movements in healthy subjects: (1) movement duration, (2) movement amplitude, (3) movement variability, and (4) movement coordination.

First, overall movement duration was defined as the time between movement initiation and movement end. To determine movement initiation, movement start was defined as the time point at which the hand velocity first exceeded 10% of its peak velocity. Movement initiation was then determined by subtracting 10% of the acceleration time (i.e. the time between movement start and reaching peak velocity) from movement start. Movement end was defined as the last sample recorded before the first contact with the reaching target, as determined by the change in electrical resistance (see Section 2.2). Subsequently, duration of acceleration and duration of deceleration were calculated. In addition, peak velocity was analyzed. Thus, temporal characteristics of the reaching movements will be described by four measures: (1) overall movement duration, (2) duration of acceleration, (3) duration of deceleration, and (4) peak velocity.

Second, movement amplitudes were determined by calculating the absolute value of the difference between the maximum and minimum joint angle separately for each of the seven joint angles. Subsequently, mean movement amplitude was calculated as the average movement amplitude across the seven joint angles. In addition, to evaluate the curvature of the movement trajectory the total path length in the 7D-joint space was calculated.

Third, movement variability during movement execution and at movement end was analyzed. Prior to that, the full temporal resolution of the joint angle motion was reduced to ten equidistant sampling points between movement initiation and movement end. To account for small inter-trial variations in the actual starting position of the arm and in movement duration, a correction of the joint angle trajectories was calculated as described in Krüger et al. (2011). After this correction, the covariance matrix of the starting position (first sample) reduced to zero and was not considered in further analytical steps. Thus, the covariance matrix of the joint angles was analyzed at nine equidistant sampling points during the movement. Afterwards, movement variability was analyzed at two levels: the effector space and the task space. To examine the amount of variability during the time course of reaching movements in the effector space, the square-root of the mean within-subject variance, averaged across the seven joint angles of the arm (hereafter referred to as: "standard deviation of arm posture"), was calculated. In the task space, the square root of the mean within-subject variance, averaged across its three dimensions was calculated for the task variables (a) hand position ("standard deviation of hand position") and (b) hand orientation ("standard deviation of hand orientation").

Fourth, movement coordination was examined by two measures: (1) coupling between joint angles within the arm posture at a given sampling point, and (2) temporal coupling between the arm posture at a given sampling point and the final arm posture. To accomplish the first measure, a principal component analysis was calculated on the 7×7 covariance matrix of the arm posture separately for each subject, target position, and sampling point. Subsequently, the variances for each of the seven eigenvalues of the covariance matrix were averaged across sampling points, and the percentage of total variance explained by the first two eigenvalues was calculated. A

relative increase of this percentage is closely related to a relative decrease of the number of kinematic DoF with respect to the mechanical DoF. To accomplish the second measure, the temporal coupling between the arm posture during the movement and the final arm posture was assessed by canonical correlation analysis evaluating the percentage of inter-trial variance of the final arm posture that could be explained by the variance of arm posture at a given sampling point. The redundancy, as returned by the canonical correlation analysis, equals the mean R² across the multiple regressions explaining the final arm posture as linear functions of the arm posture at a given sampling point. Note the difference in the meaning of the term "redundancy" in this mathematical context and "motor redundancy" (see e.g. Latash et al. 2007 for its definition).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was calculated using SPSS 9.0. Pairwise comparisons were calculated for the measures of movement duration, movement amplitude, as well as for the two measures of movement coordination. A repeated measurement ANOVA with condition (Control vs. Ischemia) as the between-group factor, and sampling point as the repeated factor was calculated for the following dependent variables: (1) standard deviation of arm posture, (2) standard deviation of hand position, and (3) standard deviation of hand orientation. Bonferroni corrected pairwise comparisons were calculated for post-hoc analysis of significant interactions. A Greenhouse-Geisser adjustment was made if the sphericity assumption was rejected by Mauchly's sphericity test. Variance data was tested for normal distribution with the Lilliefors-test. Data was normally distributed for both groups and for almost all sampling points. The critical value for significance was set at p < 0.05. Subjects were excluded from single analyses in case of data corruption.

Results

Since the influence of target position on complex reaching movements was not of interest in the current study, and was already discussed elsewhere (Krüger et al. 2012; Krüger et al. 2011), only the results for reaching towards the left target position will be presented here. Similar results were found for reaching movements towards the right target position, though in general the observed differences were smaller for the right target position as compared to the left target position.

Movement duration

Overall movement duration was 778 ± 167 ms (mean \pm SD) for the ischemia condition and 713 ± 142 ms for the control condition (see Fig. 2). This difference was significant ($t_{14} = -3.55$, P < 0.01) and based on a significantly increased duration of the acceleration phase under ischemia (403 ± 83 ms vs. 352 ± 84 ms, $t_{14} = -3.08$, P < 0.01). Neither duration of the deceleration phase (375 ± 116 ms vs. 360 ± 101 ms), nor peak velocity (1068 ± 101 ms)

198.57mm/s vs. 1095 \pm 195mm/s) differed between the ischemia and control condition.



Fig. 2 Movement durations (means ± standard deviation) for the three analyzed parameters: Overall movement duration, duration of acceleration and duration of deceleration. Statistically significant differences between experimental conditions are indicated by an asterisk.

3.2 Movement amplitude

When reaching towards the target, trajectories for five out of the seven joint angles of the arm (shoulder torsion, shoulder horizontal, shoulder vertical, elbow torsion, and wrist horizontal) showed a continuous increase or decrease between movement initiation and movement end, with the trajectories slightly curved. For elbow flexion and wrist vertical, joint angle trajectories showed a reversal in movement direction during the movement. Under ischemia, total path length in the 7D-joint space was decreased by 15% (control: $40.8 \pm 6.8 \text{deg vs.}$ ischemia: $34.3 \pm 5.4 \text{deg}$), indicating less curved joint angle trajectories in this condition. Associated with that, the subjects' mean movement amplitude was significantly decreased under ischemia as compared to the control condition ($26.3 \pm 4.1 \text{deg vs.}$ $31.3 \pm 4.7 \text{deg}$, $t_{14} = 5.32$, P < 0.01, see Fig. 3A). This difference was especially pronounced in four of the seven joint angles: shoulder torsion ($t_{14} = 2.46$, P = 0.03), shoulder vertical ($t_{14} = 2.95$, P = 0.01), elbow torsion ($t_{14} = 3.93$, P < 0.01) and elbow flexion ($t_{14} = 5.50$, P < 0.01, see Fig. 3B).



Fig. 3 Movement amplitudes A Mean movement amplitude (mean \pm standard deviation) is depicted. Movement amplitude was significantly decreased under ischemia. B Movement amplitudes for each joint (mean \pm standard deviation). Asterisks indicate significant differences between the two conditions. Movement amplitude was decreased in joints distal, as well as proximal to the blood pressure cuff.

Movement variability

Movement variability was analyzed with respect to three measures: (a) standard deviation of arm posture, (b) standard deviation of hand position, and (c) standard deviation of hand orientation. The amount of movement variability did not differ between the two experimental conditions (i.e. no significant main effect of experimental condition) for any of the three measures either across the nine sampling points or at movement end. However, for each of the three measures, a significant main effect of sampling point became evident: (a) $F_{2.39,23,92} = 21.21$, P < 0.01, (b)

 $F_{2.36,23.62} = 53.35$, P < 0.01, and (c) $F_{2.48,24.83} = 22.93$, P < 0.01. In all cases, movement variability increased until the middle of the movement and decreased afterwards. Variability at movement initiation was smallest and on an intermediate level at movement end (see Fig. 4A-C).



- Fig. 4 Movement variability A Standard deviation of arm posture and the respective confidence interval is shown. It represents the mean across subjects. B Standard deviation of mean hand position (+ confidence interval) is depicted. Hand position variability was less modulated under ischemia. C Standard deviation of mean hand orientation and the respective confidence interval is shown.
- **Table 1:** Post-hoc analysis for the significant interaction Condition × Sampling point for the measure: Standard deviation of hand position. Data in the upper right half of the table represents p-values of significant pairwise comparisons of single sampling points for the Ischemia-condition. Data in the lower left half of the table represents p-values of significant pairwise comparisons of single sampling points for the control condition. Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons was applied to all calculations.

		Ischemia								
	Sampling	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
	point #									
Control	1		p = 0.05	p = 0.01	p < 0.01	p < 0.01	p < 0.01	p = 0.02	p = 0.03	p = 0.02
	2	p < 0.01		p < 0.01	p < 0.01	p = 0.01	p = 0.03	n.s.	n.s.	p = 0.07*
	3	p < 0.01	p < 0.01		n.s.	p = 0.04	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
	4	p < 0.01	p < 0.01	p = 0.03		p = 0.06*	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
	5	p < 0.01	p < 0.01	n.s.	n.s.		n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
	6	p < 0.01	p < 0.01	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.		n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
	7	p < 0.01	p = 0.02	n.s.	n.s.	p = 0.01	p < 0.01		n.s.	n.s.
	8	p < 0.01	n.s.	n.s.	p = 0.4	p < 0.01	p < 0.01	p < 0.01		n.s.
	9	p < 0.01	n.s.	n.s.	p < 0.01	p < 0.01	p < 0.01	p < 0.01	p=0.06*	

The interaction of experimental condition \times sampling point was significant for standard deviation of hand position. Qualitatively, this effect became evident as a weaker modulation of hand position variability across the nine sampling points in the ischemia condition (see Fig. 4B). Post hoc analysis revealed that, under ischemia, only the first two sampling points differed largely from the other sampling points, whereas under control conditions almost all sampling points differed significantly from each other (see Table 1). In addition, there was a trend towards a significant difference of hand position variability between the two experimental conditions at the fourth sampling point, when the difference in the standard deviation of hand position was greatest ($t_{14} = 2.04$, P = 0.07, see Fig. 4B). No other effects reached the level of significance.



Fig. 5 Movement coordination A Group mean (\pm standard deviation) of the variance explained by the two biggest eigenvalues, averaged across the nine sampling points, is shown. Under ischemia significantly more variance was explained by the first two eigenvalues as compared to the control condition. **B** Explained variance by the seven eigenvalues, averaged across the nine sampling points, is shown for one representative subject. **C** Redundancy (R²) of final arm posture variance with respect to arm posture variance at the fifth sampling point. Error bars represent standard deviations. Under ischemia redundancy was higher than in the control condition. **D** Redundancy (R²) of final arm posture variance with respect to arm posture variance for each sampling point is shown for a representative subject for both conditions.

Movement coordination

As a first measure of movement coordination, the coupling of joint angles within the arm posture at a specific sampling point was analyzed using a principal component analysis applied to the inter-trial 7×7 covariance matrix of the arm posture at the specific sampling point. Under ischemia, the first

two eigenvalues explained $88.90 \pm 2.44\%$ of total joint angle variance compared with $83.40 \pm 2.27\%$ in the control condition (see Fig. 5A for group mean and Fig. 5B for a representative subject). This difference was significant ($t_8 = -18.43$, P < 0.01).

Secondly, the temporal coupling of the arm posture was analyzed using the redundancy of final arm posture with respect to the arm posture during movement execution (see Section 3.3). As a matter of course, the redundancy increased towards movement end and finally reached the level of 1 (see Fig. 5D for a representative subject). The redundancy of final arm posture with respect to the variance of the arm posture at the first sampling point was smaller in the control condition ($R^2 \sim 0.4$) than under ischemia ($R^2 \sim 0.7$). Consequently, the subsequent increase in redundancy up to the value 1 at movement end was steeper in the control condition than under ischemia. For group comparison, only the redundancy with respect to the fifth sampling point, when the standard deviation of arm posture was maximal, was analyzed. Under ischemia the redundancy was significantly higher than in the control condition (R^2 : 0.83 ± 0.20 vs. 0.60 ± 0.05, t_4 = -3.248, P = 0.03, see Fig. 5C).

Discussion

In the current study we investigated the influence of temporary proprioceptive deafferentation on the control of a complex reaching movement. We found increased movement duration due to increased acceleration duration, decreased movement amplitude, as well as changes in movement coordination under reduced proprioceptive afference due to ischemia. The changes in movement coordination became evident as an increased coupling of joint angles within a specific arm posture, as well as an increased temporal coupling between arm postures during movement execution with final arm posture, resulting in a decreased number of kinematic DoF of the effector-system. Movement endpoint variability was not influenced by the ischemia. Overall, the results suggest that healthy subjects are able to immediately and efficiently adjust to the impaired flow of proprioceptive information. These ischemia-induced adjustments may concern different levels of the motor system such as muscle functions (Jacobsen et al. 1994), spinal reflexes (Fellows et al. 1993), cerebellar feedback-control, or movement planning.

It can be speculated why the ability to compensate for the impaired flow of proprioceptive information is different in healthy subjects as compared to patients with chronic deafferentation. One possible explanation could be that the proprioceptive deafferentation applied in our study is qualitatively different to the one induced by chronic peripheral sensory neuropathy. Both processes may involve different sensory processing mechanisms. Another possible explanation could lie in the duration of the impairment of deafferented patients. Whether the ability to flexibly and efficiently integrate available sensory information in healthy subjects would decrease with the duration of the proprioceptive deafferentation, when the proprioceptive input to the feed-forward and feedback signals becomes increasingly less informative and less precise, can be speculated. If this holds true one would expect increasingly deteriorated movement performance, similar to that observed in chronically deafferented patients (Sainburg et al. 1995; Medina et al. 2010; Gentilucci et al. 1994).

In this study, the flow of proprioceptive afference was incompletely blocked by a blood-pressure cuff which was applied to the subjects' upper arm and inflated slightly above systolic blood pressure. Consequently, partial proprioceptive information was still accessible during movement execution. Though, the observed strength of the changes in movement control under ischemia proved this procedure to be effective for studying effects of proprioceptive deafferentation. Ischemic pain and muscle weakness were not observed in our study, due to the relatively short duration of the experiment (Harriman 1977; see also 2.3 in the Methods section for a more detailed description on the effects of an ischemic block).

Adjustment of movement duration

Movement duration was increased by the ischemia as a result of increased acceleration duration. The influence of proprioception on the duration of acceleration was already recognized by Bagesteiro and colleagues (2006) and associated with sensory-based online-correction of the movement. Movement's peak velocity was not increased under ischemia. Increased duration of acceleration without increased peak velocity indicates decreased peak acceleration and, consequently, decreased peak force. A reduction in total force applied during movement execution is accompanied by a reduction in signal-dependent noise (Harris and Wolpert 1998). This may be advantageous under ischemia, as the precision of movement planning is of greater importance when movement online-control based on proprioceptive feedback is impaired. Our results suggest that healthy subjects are able to immediately and efficiently adjust the precision of movement planning to the lack of proprioceptive information.

Adjustment of movement amplitude

Movement amplitude was decreased under ischemia, due to less curved joint angle trajectories. Importantly, this was not only true for joints distal to the applied blood pressure cuff (i.e. elbow torsion and elbow flexion), which were directly affected by the ischemic block, but also for two joint angles proximal to the cuff (i.e. shoulder torsion and shoulder vertical), which were not directly affected by the ischemia. In combination with the finding of stronger inter-joint coupling under ischemia, this suggests a more global change in the strategy of joint angle coordination involving all joints of the arm, to compensate for the ischemia. A reason for planning a reaching movement with decreased mean movement amplitude may be the associated decrease in the signal-to-noise ratio (Harris and Wolpert 1998), facilitating the control of movement endpoint variability. This assumption is also supported by Fitts' Law (Fitts 1954), which describes the relationship between movement amplitude, movement duration and movement accuracy. According to this law, in order to keep movement endpoint variability constant in a task with increased task difficulty, movement duration and/or movement amplitude must be adjusted. Assuming that the ischemia may have increased task difficulty, as an important source of sensory information was disabled, planning a movement with decreased movement amplitude and increased movement duration may have allowed the subjects to keep movement endpoint variability constant, as observed in our study.

Changes in movement control, involving movement duration and movement amplitude, were also reported in a study by Medina and colleagues (2009), where a patient with chronic, peripheral deafferentation had to point to targets of different size (implying different movement difficulties) and at different distances from the starting point (implying different movement amplitudes). Increased movement difficulty and increased movement amplitude were both accompanied by increased movement duration and resulted in decreased endpoint accuracy. Although similar results were found for the healthy control subjects in this study, the trade-off was much steeper for the deafferented patient than for the control subjects. In contrast to Medina and colleagues, who found decreased endpoint accuracy in the deafferented patient, endpoint variability was not increased under proprioceptive deafferentation in our study. This may be explained by differences in the experimental task (grasping versus pointing), and more probably by the fact that the deafferentation in our study was only incomplete and temporary, whereas the patient in the study by Medina and colleagues was chronically deafferented for more than 20 years. However, as a common conclusion, it can be inferred that proprioceptive deafferentation leads to a strategic change in the control of the reaching movements. Importantly, healthy subjects are able to efficiently and immediately compensate for the temporary loss of proprioceptive information by increasing movement duration and decreasing movement amplitude so that movement endpoint variability is not increased.

Adjustment of movement variability

Another important finding of our study was that the modulation of hand position variability during movement execution was altered under ischemia, in such a way that the initial increase and subsequent decrease of hand position variability was less pronounced. The increase-decrease pattern of movement variability was already described in earlier studies by our group (Krüger et al. 2012; Krüger et al. 2011) and is a sign of successful minimization of variance at movement end. It indicates that signaldependent noise (Harris and Wolpert 1998), introduced by forces during the acceleration period, is successfully compensated by feedback control acting primarily during the deceleration phase (Elliott et al. 2010; Elliott et al. 2001). The fact that this increase-decrease pattern of hand position variability is less pronounced under ischemia (see Fig. 4) is probably related to both reduced acceleration forces, resulting in a reduced increase of variability, and impaired proprioceptive feedback, resulting in a reduced decrease of variability. Interestingly, both of these changes compensated for each other in such a way that endpoint variability was almost identical in the control condition and under ischemia. This is in contrast to findings of studies with chronically deafferented patients (Gentilucci et al. 1994; Nougier et al. 1996; Gordon et al. 1995; Medina et al. 2009) and reflects the

ability of the motor control system of healthy subjects to immediately and efficiently adjust to the loss of proprioceptive information.

Adjustment of movement coordination

Movement coordination was altered under ischemia, a finding similar to that observed in studies on deafferented patients (Ghez and Sainburg 1995; Sainburg et al. 1993; Sarlegna et al. 2006). In the current study, the alterations in movement coordination became evident for the coupling between single joints of a specific arm posture as well as for the temporal coupling of arm posture during movement execution with that at movement end. For both parameters, the coupling was stronger under ischemia, which can be interpreted as a reduction of the number of kinematic DoF of the redundant effector-system arm and consequently as a facilitation of its online-control. The "problem" of redundancy is well-known (Bernstein 1967) and of recent interest in motor control research (Eggert et al. 2003; Gielen et al. 1995; Prablanc et al. 2003; Krüger et al. 2012). Recently, the benefits of redundancy came to the fore (de Freitas et al. 2007; Gera et al. 2010; Latash et al. 2010). Associated with that, the effort and the costs of controlling movement variability are reduced as only variability that counteracts successful movement execution needs to be minimized (Todorov 2004; Todorov and Jordan 2002). Increasing the strength of joint angle coupling under ischemia, i.e. increasing the synergistic coordination of the redundant DoF, may reflect a change in the control strategy concerning the way motor redundancy is used.

Conclusions

The results suggest that healthy subjects are able to immediately and efficiently adjust the control of complex reaching movements to the loss of proprioceptive information. Qualitatively similar to the findings in studies on chronically deafferented patients, movement duration was longer, movement amplitude was decreased and movement coordination was altered. This led to a reduction in movement complexity, which, generally speaking, results in facilitated movement control. As a result, variability at movement end was not increased, which seemed to be an important goal of the task.

References

Bagesteiro LB, Sarlegna FR, Sainburg RL (2006) Differential influence of vision and proprioception on control of movement distance. Exp Brain Res 171 (3):358-370

Bernstein NA (1967) The Co-ordination and Regulation of Movements. Pergamon Press, Oxford Bjorkman A, Rosen B, Lundborg G (2004a) Acute improvement of hand sensibility after selective ipsilateral cutaneous forearm anaesthesia. Eur J Neurosci 20 (10):2733-2736

Bjorkman A, Rosen B, van Westen D, Larsson EM, Lundborg G (2004b) Acute improvement of contralateral hand function after deafferentation. Neuroreport 15 (12):1861-1865

de Freitas SM, Scholz JP, Stehman AJ (2007) Effect of motor planning on use of motor abundance. Neurosci Lett 417 (1):66-71

Eggert T, Tihanyi T, Straube A (2003) Solving the Redundancy Problem for Unrestricted Reaching Movements: A Comparison of Patients with Cerebral Infarcts and Healthy Controls. Annals New York Academy of Sciences 1004:511-515

Elliott D, Hansen S, Grierson LE, Lyons J, Bennett SJ, Hayes SJ (2010) Goal-directed aiming: two components but multiple processes. Psychol Bull 136 (6):1023-1044

Elliott D, Helsen WF, Chua R (2001) A century later: Woodworth's (1899) two-component model of goal-directed aiming. Psychol Bull 127 (3):342-357

Fellows SJ, Domges F, Topper R, Thilmann AF, Noth J (1993) Changes in the short- and long-latency stretch reflex components of the triceps surae muscle during ischaemia in man. J Physiol 472:737-748

Fitts PM (1954) The information capacity of the human motor system in controlling the amplitude of movement. J Exp Psychol 47 (6):381-391

Gentilucci M, Toni I, Chieffi S, Pavesi G (1994) The role of proprioception in the control of prehension movements: a kinematic study in a peripherally deafferented patient and in normal subjects. Exp Brain Res 99 (3):483-500

Gera G, Freitas S, Latash M, Monahan K, Schöner G, Scholz J (2010) Motor abundance contributes to resolving multiple kinematic task constraints. Motor Control 14 (1):83-115

Ghez C, Sainburg R (1995) Proprioceptive control of interjoint coordination. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 73 (2):273-284

Gielen C, Vanbolhuis BM, Theeuwen M (1995) On the control of biologically and kinematically redundant manipulators. Hum Mov Sci 14 (4-5):487-509

Gordon J, Ghilardi MF, Ghez C (1995) Impairments of reaching movements in patients without proprioception. I. Spatial errors. J Neurophysiol 73 (1):347-360 Grea H, Pisella L, Rossetti Y, Desmurget M, Tilikete C, Grafton S, Prablanc C, Vighetto A (2002) A lesion of the posterior parietal cortex disrupts online adjustments during aiming movements. Neuropsychologia 40 (13):2471-2480

Harriman DG (1977) Ischaemia of peripheral nerve and muscle. J Clin Pathol Suppl (R Coll Pathol) 11:94-104

Harris CM, Wolpert DM (1998) Signal-dependent noise determines motor planning. Nature 394 (6695):780-784

Hepp-Reymond MC, Chakarov V, Schulte-Monting J, Huethe F, Kristeva R (2009) Role of proprioception and vision in handwriting. Brain Res Bull 79 (6):365-370

Jacobson MD, Pedowitz RA, Oyama BK, Tryon B, Gershuni DH (1994) Muscle functional deficits after tourniquet ischemia. Am J Sports Med 22 (3):372-377

Keresztenyi Z, Cesari P, Fazekas G, Laczko J (2009) The relation of hand and arm configuration variances while tracking geometric figures in Parkinson's disease: aspects for rehabilitation. Int J Rehabil Res 32 (1):53-63

Krüger M, Borbely B, Eggert T, Straube A (2012) Synergistic control of joint angle variability: Influence of target shape. Hum Mov Sci

Krüger M, Eggert T, Straube A (2011) Joint angle variability in the time course of reaching movements. Clin Neurophysiol 122 (4):759-766

Latash ML, Levin MF, Scholz JP, Schöner G (2010) Motor control theories and their applications. Medicina (Kaunas) 46 (6):382-392

Latash ML, Scholz JP, Schöner G (2007) Toward a new theory of motor synergies. Motor Control 11 (3):276-308

Medina J, Jax SA, Brown MJ, Coslett HB (2010) Contributions of efference copy to limb localization: evidence from deafferentation. Brain Res 1355:104-111

Medina J, Jax SA, Coslett HB (2009) Two-component models of reaching: evidence from deafferentation in a Fitts' law task. Neurosci Lett 451 (3):222-226

Moisello C, Bove M, Huber R, Abbruzzese G, Battaglia F, Tononi G, Ghilardi MF (2008) Short-term limb immobilization affects motor performance. J Mot Behav 40 (2):165-176

Nougier V, Bard C, Fleury M, Teasdale N, Cole J, Forget R, Paillard J, Lamarre Y (1996) Control of single-joint movements in deafferented

patients: evidence for amplitude coding rather than position control. Exp Brain Res 109 (3):473-482

Oldfield RC (1971) The Assessment and Analysis of Handedness: The Edinburgh Inventory. Neuropsychologica 9:97-113

Prablanc C, Desmurget M, Grea H (2003) Neural control of on-line guidance of hand reaching movements. Prog Brain Res 142:155-170

Rolke R, Magerl W, Campbell KA, Schalber C, Caspari S, Birklein F, Treede RD (2006) Quantitative sensory testing: a comprehensive protocol for clinical trials. Eur J Pain 10 (1):77-88

Sainburg RL, Ghilardi MF, Poizner H, Ghez C (1995) Control of limb dynamics in normal subjects and patients without proprioception. J Neurophysiol 73 (2):820-835

Sainburg RL, Poizner H, Ghez C (1993) Loss of proprioception produces deficits in interjoint coordination. J Neurophysiol 70 (5):2136-2147

Sarlegna FR, Gauthier GM, Bourdin C, Vercher JL, Blouin J (2006) Internally driven control of reaching movements: a study on a proprioceptively deafferented subject. Brain Res Bull 69 (4):404-415

Schaefer SY, Haaland KY, Sainburg RL (2009) Hemispheric specialization and functional impact of ipsilesional deficits in movement coordination and accuracy. Neuropsychologia

Todorov E (2004) Optimality principles in sensorimotor control. Nat Neurosci 7 (9):907-915

Todorov E, Jordan MI (2002) Optimal feedback control as a theory of motor coordination. Nat Neurosci 5 (11):1226-1235

Ziemann U, Hallett M, Cohen LG (1998) Mechanisms of deafferentationinduced plasticity in human motor cortex. J Neurosci 18 (17):7000-7007 Human Movement Science (2012), 31(5), 1071-1089

Synergistic control of joint angle variability: Influence of target shape

Melanie Krüger, Bence Borbély, Thomas Eggert, and Andreas Straube

Abstract

Reaching movements are often used to study the effectiveness of motor control processes with respect to the final position of arm and hand. Empirical evidence exists, showing that different targets can be grasped with similar final position accuracy. However, even equally effective controlled movements towards different targets can be based on different control strategies. In particular, control strategies may differ in the control of the abundant degrees of freedom with respect to the task specific costs. The objective of the present study was to investigate whether the applied control strategy is influenced by the shape of the target to be grasped. It was investigated whether differently strong pronounced constraints, which are imposed by the shape of the targets, are leading to different synergistic coordination of the degrees of freedom of the arm. For that purpose, subjects were asked to either grasp a cylindrical or spherical target, which imposed differently strong constraints on final hand orientation and position. Variability of joint angles of the arm, as well as variability of hand orientation and hand position was analyzed over the whole time course of movement execution, using the uncontrolled manifold method. Analysis revealed that the degrees of freedom of the arm were synergistically coordinated to stabilize both, hand orientation and hand position, when grasping to either the spherical or cylindrical target. This suggests that multiple task constraints can be simultaneously controlled. The analysis further revealed that joint angle variability of the arm was more closely controlled to stabilize hand orientation when reaching towards a cylindrical target as compared to the spherical target. In contrast, hand position was more strongly stabilized in the spherical target condition. This suggests that different target shapes do influence the control strategy of reaching movements even though variability at movement end was not affected.

Introduction

Reaching and grasping movements represent an elemental part of the human movement repertoire. Because of this, this class of movements is often used to investigate motor control processes (Bagesteiro, Sarlegna, & Sainburg, 2006; Boulinguez, Nougier, & Velay, 2001; Desmurget et al., 1995; Haaland, Prestopnik, Knight, & Lee, 2004; Ohta, Svinin, Luo, Hosoe, & Laboissiere, 2004; Sainburg & Kalakanis, 2000; Scheidt, Conditt, Secco, & Mussa-Ivaldi, 2005; Simmons & Demiris, 2006). Two main approaches that are used in this context can be found in the literature: (1) the investigation of the amount of movement variability (Desmurget, Jordan, Prablanc, & Jeannerod, 1997; Desmurget & Prablanc, 1997; Eggert, Tihanyi, & Straube, 2003; Grea, Desmurget, & Prablanc, 2000; Kruger, Eggert, & Straube, 2011; Magescas, Urquizar, & Prablanc, 2009), and (2) the investigation of the structure of movement variability (de Freitas, Scholz, & Stehman, 2007; Eggert, et al., 2003; Gera et al., 2010; Latash, Scholz, & Schoner, 2002, 2007; Scholz, Danion, Latash, & Schoner, 2002; Scholz, Schoner, & Latash, 2000; Y. W. Tseng, Scholz, & Galloway, 2009; Zhang, Scholz, Zatsiorsky, & Latash, 2008).

As a representative of the first group, Desmurget and Prablanc (1997), for example, found empirical evidence that the mean final arm posture of reaching movements is invariant to perturbations. In their study, Desmurget and colleagues showed that, when reaching towards a cylindrical target, final arm posture was neither different nor more variable when the target was stationary or changed its orientation after movement onset. This result was interpreted as a hint for the postural control hypothesis, which states that the strategy used to control reaching movements is constructed to stabilize final arm posture. This hypothesis was further confirmed by the finding that the invariance of final arm posture to perturbations did not depend on the particular orientation constraints induced by the cylindrical handle but can also observed with spherical handle (Grea, et al., 2000). These studies even though they proved the importance of final arm posture for cylindrical and for spherical targets, did not investigate how the control of final arm posture was affected by target shape. In addition, looking at the variability of final arm posture provides only information about the consequence of the motor control process. In contrast, investigating the time course of variability during movement execution reveals characteristic features of the underlying control strategy (Kruger, et al., 2011).

In the past years, the investigation of the structure of movement variability during movement execution became of increasing interest in that context. (Domkin, Laczko, Djupsjobacka, Jaric, & Latash, 2005; Domkin, Laczko, Jaric, Johansson, & Latash, 2002; Y. Tseng, Scholz, & Schoner, 2002; Y. W. Tseng & Scholz, 2005; Y. W. Tseng, Scholz, Schoner, & Hotchkiss, 2003; van der Steen & Bongers, 2011). The notion of a synergistic control of abundant degrees of freedom (DoF) was introduced (Latash, et al., 2007). Latash and colleagues (2007) defined synergistic control of the multi-element system in a way that: the task is shared across different elemental variables of the system, and that those elemental variables are able to co-

vary with each other to ensure stability of the multi-element system. By doing so, the system is supposed to become more resistant against perturbations (Latash, et al., 2007). Synergistic neural control of movements therefore ensures flexibility and stability of the multi-element system.

Scholz and Schoner (1999) proposed the uncontrolled manifold method through which it is possible to examine whether inter-trial variability in movement execution is structured to synergistically stabilize particular task variables. By applying this method, movement variability (e.g. variance of joint angle positions) is partitioned into two independent components – one leaving a proposed task variable (e.g. hand position) unchanged ("uncontrolled variance" - V_{ucm}), whereas the other, orthogonal component contains that part of the movement variability which has an influence on the proposed task variable (V_{orth}). While the first component gives hint about the flexibility of the system in coordinating specific joint configurations, the ratio of these two components (V_{ucm}/V_{orth}) reflects the stability of the system (Latash, et al., 2007). This method was further elaborated by Latash and colleagues (Latash, Levin, Scholz, & Schoner, 2010; Latash, et al., 2008) and associated with other concepts of motor control (Freitas & Scholz, 2009; Latash, 2008, 2010).

The aim of the present study was to investigate the influence of target shape on the amount and structure of joint angle variability during reaching movements by directly contrasting spherical and cylindrical target shape, using the uncontrolled manifold method (Scholz & Schoner, 1999). Grasping the sphere leaves three rotatory degrees of freedom (DoF) unrestraint, whereas grasping the cylindrical target leaves one rotatory and one translational DoF unrestraint. Hence, we hypothesized that stabilization of hand orientation is less important when grasping the sphere than the cylinder. In contrast, we hypothesized that the stabilization of hand position is less important when grasping the cylinder than the sphere. To test this hypothesis, we investigated the structure of joint angle variance by evaluating V_{ucm} and V_{orth} with respect to the task variables hand orientation and hand position. Furthermore, we investigated the effectiveness of the control process by directly quantifying the variances within the two task spaces (hand orientation, hand position).

Methods

Participants

Ten healthy subjects (6 female, 4 male, age: 29.4 ± 7.9 years) participated in the study. Subjects had given written informed consent prior to participation. All subjects were right-hand dominant as determined by the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971) and had normal or corrected-to-normal vision. The experimental procedure was in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the local Ethical Committee.



Fig.1 Experimental set-up and apparatus. A Top view on the experimental set-up. Sitting distance of the subject could be adjusted to individuals arm length. The black, solid bars represent one of the three possible positions of the moveable handle. Dashed bars show the other two possible handle positions. The moveable handle was mounted on a horizontal table track, which moved the handle in a horizontal, frontal-parallel plane. **B** Starting position of the dominant right arm was defined by grasping a wooden lever attached to the handrail. Positions of the six ultra-sonic sound emitting markers are depicted. C The spherical target to be grasped is depicted. The small bar represents the link with the table track. In addition, the three (rotational) dimensions, which do not constrain the grasping movement, are drawn (dashed lines). D The cylindrical target with its respective length and depth is depicted. Again, the two dimensions, which are not constrained by the target shape, are drawn (dashed lines). Parts A and B are reprinted from Clinical Neurophysiology, 122/4, Kruger, M., Eggert, T., & Straube, A., Joint angle variability in the time course of reaching movements, 759-766, Copyright (2011), with permission from Elsevier

Experimental set-up

Subjects were comfortably seated in front of a table on which a linear table track was mounted. The grasping object was moveable on the table track in a horizontal, frontal-parallel direction (position range: \pm 19.5cm) to three equidistant positions within the boundaries of the table track (i.e. left side – center – right side). The object was driven by a 2-phase step motor with a resolution of 0.1mm per step. The sitting position of the subjects was individually adjusted as follows: (a) body midline had to be aligned to the

centre handle position, (b) the handle positions were within the anatomical range of motion of the subjects arm, and (c) trunk motion was not necessary to fulfil the reaching movement. The subject's individual starting position was defined by a wooden lever, which was attached to the right side of the chair, and that had to be grasped with the dominant right hand before each trial (see Fig. 1A). Thereby, within-subject between-trial variability due to differences in the starting position was tried to minimize.

Procedure

Two experimental conditions were set up to investigate the influence of target shape on the control of joint angle variability. In the first condition, subjects had to reach towards a spherical target (\emptyset 80 mm), whereas a cylindrical target (length: 125 mm, \emptyset 30 mm) had to be grasped in the second condition. The size of the objects forced the subjects to grasp the targets with the whole hand, and not just with two fingers. Due to its geometric properties, the cylindrical target did. In contrast, the spherical target imposed more constraints on the final hand orientation than the spherical target did. In contrast, the spherical target imposed more constraints on the final hand position (see Fig. 1C & 1D). However, it has to be noted that position and orientation of the hand are not absolutely independent from each other in this task, as for example vertical hand rotation also leads to a change of hand position in depth. All subjects participated in both conditions in separate experimental sessions. The order of sessions was counterbalanced across subjects.

At the beginning of each trial, subjects had to take in the starting position. Each trial started with the subjects pressing a start button, after which the handle position changed. Subsequently, a specific go-signal sounded and subjects had to reach towards and grasp the target with their dominant right arm in a natural manner. To provoke the most natural movement, no demands concerning movement speed or reaction time were made. As soon as the subjects started their movement, the shutter glasses occluded and thereby prevented visual online control of the movement. Subjects were instructed to go back to the starting position after having grasped the target and to initiate a new trial by pressing the start button again.

Before data acquisition, subjects performed five trials to familiarize themselves with the experimental task and apparatus. Subsequently, four blocks with 30 trials in each block were recorded in each session (120 trials per session). Each experimental block consisted of 10 trials of each handle position, arranged in a pseudo-random order to avoid predictability of the handle position and pre-planning of the reaching movement. Between the blocks a break of maximum five minutes was offered to avoid fatigue.

Analysis

Data analysis

The joint angles of the arm were deducted from the marker signals using Matlab 7.9.0 (Mathworks, Natick, USA) to create a geometrical model of the arm and hand. Those joint angles were converted to seven consecutive Cardan angles, expressed in the following order: two angles for the wrist

(vertical, horizontal), two for the elbow (torsion, flexion), and three for the shoulder (torsion, horizontal, vertical). The vector containing these seven joint angles is hereafter referred to as arm posture (Kruger, et al., 2011). In addition, orientation of the hand in space (i.e. 3D) was defined by the orientation of the plane defined by the three markers on the hand and wrist. The orientation was specified in Helmholtz coordinates (Haslwanter, 1995) relative to the external world. Furthermore, hand position in space (i.e. 3D) was determined by the position of the center between the two markers of the hand in world-fixed Cartesian coordinates. Trials were excluded from further data analysis, if one of the markers was temporary occluded. In general, this affected not more than 10 trials per subject. The full temporal resolution of the joint angle motion was reduced to ten equidistant sampling points between movements initiation (i.e. immediately before the first increase in movement velocity of marker (1) was detected) and movement end (i.e. last positional signal before the first contact with the handle).

Before estimating the 7x7 covariance matrix of the arm posture for reaching movements between fixed starting position and fixed target position, a correction of the joint angle trajectories for small inter-trial variations of movement duration and of the actual starting position of the arm was calculated. This was necessary because, although subjects' individual starting position was predetermined by the experimental set-up (see point 2.2), small variations were still possible. In the same way, variations in movement duration were possible due to the fact that the reaching movements were not restricted to specific movement duration. This correction was calculated by submitting each joint angle to a linear regression analysis with the predictors starting position (7 joint angles) and movement duration. This regression analysis was calculated independently for each subject, handle position and sampling point. For each trial, the joint angles were corrected by subtracting the difference between the predicted and the average joint angle. After this correction, the covariance matrix of the starting position (first sample) reduced to zero and was not considered in further analytical steps. Thus, the covariance matrix of the joint angles was analyzed at nine equidistant sampling points during the movement.

Three overall measures were computed to examine the amount of variability of the reaching movements on joint angle level during the time course and at the endpoint: (1) square-root of the mean within-subject variance, averaged across the seven joint angles of the arm ("standard deviation of arm posture"), (2) square root of the mean within-subject variance of hand orientation in Helmholtz angles, averaged across the three rotational dimensions ("standard deviation of hand orientation"), and (3) square root of the mean within-subject variance of hand position in Cartesian coordinates, averaged across the three directional dimensions ("standard deviation of hand position"). These overall standard deviations were calculated separately for each subject and sampling point.

Analysis based on the Uncontrolled Manifold method

In addition to the analysis of the amount of joint angle variability, the question about the underlying structure of this variability was of interest in

this study. Therefore, in a first step, hypothetical task variables were defined. It was hypothesized that the central nervous system synergistically stabilizes the value of: (1) hand orientation, and (2) hand position during movement execution. We wanted to test whether the actual control strategy differed between the spherical and cylindrical target shape condition. Following that initial step, the total variance of the specific mean arm posture, (i.e. the sum of variances of all joint angles) was calculated for each of the nine sampling points.

To examine the covariation structure between joint angles of the arm with respect to the different hypothesized task variables, the uncontrolled manifold method (Latash, et al., 2002, 2007; Scholz & Schoner, 1999) was applied, based on the geometrical model of the arm as described above (see 2.4.1). The structure of variance in the frame of the uncontrolled manifold method is defined by the amount of variance that does not lead to changes in the task variable in comparison to the amount of variance that does change the task variable. The Jacobian matrix (J), obtained through the geometrical model of the arm, expresses the differential changes of the 3-dimensional task variable (Δv ; either hand position or hand orientation) as a linear function of the differential changes of the 7 joint angles ($\Delta \phi$): $\Delta v = J \times \Delta \phi$. The subspace of joint configurations, in which differential joint angle changes do not influence the task variable, builds the uncontrolled manifold. Variance within the uncontrolled manifold (Vucm) was defined as the variance of the projection of all deviations of the joint angles from their mean on the null space of the Jacobian matrix: $V_{ucm} = trace(B_{ucm}T \times \sum \times B_{ucm})$. Where \sum denotes the covariance matrix of the joint angles and B_{ucm} the basis matrix of the null-space obtained from the last 4 columns of the orthogonal matrix Q computed by the QRdecomposition (performed with the Matlab-function qr) of the transposed Jacobian matrix: $Q = [B_{orth}, B_{ucm}]$ with [Q,R] = qr(JT).

The amount of variance within the uncontrolled manifold may be interpreted as the flexibility of covariation between the joint configurations (Latash, et al., 2007). The orthogonal subspace contains those joint configurations, whose differential joint angle changes do lead to changes in the task variable. The amount of variance within this orthogonal subspace (V_{orth}) is determining the success of the motor performance: $V_{ucm} = trace(B_{orth}T \times \sum \times B_{orth})$. The total variance of the arm posture was partitioned into the two components (V_{ucm} and V_{orth}) for each task variable, each subject and each of the nine sampling points.

Variance in each subspace was normalized to the number of its DoF within that subspace to allow comparisons between the two orthogonal subspaces. When (1) hand orientation or (2) hand position was the task variable, the subspace of V_{orth} consisted of three DoF. The number of DoF within the V_{ucm} consisted of the difference between the total number of DoF (seven) and the number of DoF within the subspace of V_{orth} . In addition, the ratio between normalized V_{ucm} and V_{orth} was calculated. When this ratio was greater than one, V_{orth} was smaller than V_{ucm} , suggesting that stabilizing the task variable was part of the control strategy. The size of this ratio is

interpreted as a measure for the stability of the synergistic control of the hypothesized task variable (Latash, et al., 2007).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was calculated using SPSS 9.0. A repeated measurement ANOVA was calculated on the last sampling point, with target shape as repeated factor, for the standard deviation of arm posture, the standard deviation of hand orientation and standard deviation of hand position, as well as for the variance ratios, V_{ucm} and V_{orth} of the assumed task variables: hand orientation, and hand position. This procedure should allow cross-experimental comparisons with the studies of Prablanc and colleagues (Desmurget & Prablanc, 1997; Grea, et al., 2000) as well as Gera and colleagues (Gera, et al., 2010). In addition, a 2 (target shape) × 9 (sampling point) repeated measurement ANOVA was calculated for each of the above mentioned dependent variables. The threshold of statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. Greenhouse-Geisser adjustment was made, if the sphericity assumption was rejected by Mauchly's sphericity test.

Results

Amount of joint angle variability of arm and hand

Standard deviation of arm posture did not differ between target shapes, neither for the last sampling point nor across the whole time course of movement execution. The interaction target shape \times sampling point also did not reach significance. However, standard deviation of arm posture differed across the time course of movement execution; increasing until the fourth sampling point and slightly decreasing again afterwards, as indicated by the main effect of sampling point (see Table 1 and Fig. 2A).

Standard deviation of hand orientation also did not differ between the target shapes, again neither for the last sampling point nor across the time course of movement execution. The main effect of sampling point was significant (see Table 1 and Fig. 2B). The time course of standard deviation of hand orientation showed a similar increasing-decreasing pattern as the standard deviation of arm posture. Other effects did not reach the level of significance.

Standard deviation of hand position also did not differ significantly between the target shapes at the last sampling point. However, there was a marginal effect of target shape with respect to joint angle variability (see Table 1). The standard deviation of hand position tended to be less for the spherical target than for the cylindrical target during the time course of movement execution, but did not differ at movement start and movement end (see Fig. 2C). Furthermore, the interaction of target shape \times sampling point was significant (see Table 1). Again, standard deviation differed across the time course of movement execution, as illustrated by a main effect of sampling point. Standard deviation increased until the middle of the movement and decreased afterwards.



Fig.2 The time courses of joint angle variability are depicted for the two target shape conditions at the nine sampling points. **A** Time course of standard deviation of arm posture. Target shape does not influence the variability of arm posture, neither at the end point nor during the time course of movement execution. Error bars represent the confidence intervals. **B** Time course of standard deviation of hand orientation. Again, target shape did not influence variability of hand orientation. Variability was quantified as the within-subject standard deviation of hand orientation averaged across subjects. **C** Time course of standard deviation of hand position. Subjects showed less variability in hand position when reaching towards the spherical target as compared to the cylindrical target, but only during the middle of the movement, and not movement start or movement end. Symbols show the group mean of root mean square of the standard deviations across all angles (A: 7, B: 3) or Cartesian directions (C: 3). Error bars represent the confidence intervals of the group mean (N = 10).

Table 1 Summary of statistically significant effects for standard deviation of arm posture,
standard deviation of hand orientation and standard deviation of hand position. F-
values and the respective p-values are listed for the analysis of endpoint variability
and for the time course of movement execution (i.e. across the nine sampling
points). The asterisks mark effects, which show a trend towards significance

	Effects					
	Endpoint variability	Time course of variability				
	Target shape	Target shape	Sampling point	Target shape × Sampling point		
Standard deviation of arm posture	n.s.	n.s.	F(1.597,14.374) = 24.241, p = 0.000	n.s.		
Standard deviation of hand orientation	n.s.	n.s.	F(1.969,17.723) = 24.242, p = 0.000	n.s.		
Standard deviation of hand position	n.s.	F(1,9) = 3.661, p = 0.088*	F(1.470,13.231) = 120.125, p = 0.000	F(2.315,20.837) = 5.035, p = 0.013		

Structure of joint angle variability of arm and hand

The structure of joint angle variability of the arm during movement execution was investigated with regard to the task variables: hand orientation, and hand position. Statistical characteristic values are reported in Table 2.

Table 2 Summary of the effects of the analysis of the structure of arm posture variabilitywith regard to the two task variables (uncontrolled manifold method): handorientation, and hand position. F-values and the respective p-values are listed forthe significant effects for the analysis of endpoint variability and for the timecourse of movement execution (i.e. across the nine sampling points). The asterisksmark effects, which show a trend towards significance

Task variable	Effect	V_{ucm} / V_{orth}	V _{ixm}	V _{orth}	
		End point variability			
Hand orientation	target shape	F(1,9) = 18.524, p = 0.002	n.s.	n.s.	
Hand position	target shape	$F(1,9) = 6.683, \ p = 0.029 \qquad \qquad n.s.$		F(1,9) = 4.389, p = 0.066*	
		Time course of variability			
Hand orientation	target shape	F(1,9) = 10.007, p = 0.011	n.s.	n.s.	
	sampling point	F(1.491,13.420) = 9.779, p = 0.004	F(1.443,12.990) = 9.291, p = 0.005	F(1.582,14.239) = 9.271, p = 0.004	
	target shape × sampling point	F(2.332,20.989) = 10.449, p = 0.000	n.s.	n.s.	
Hand position	target shape	F(1,9) = 5.664, p = 0.041	n.s.	F(1,9) = 7.079, p = 0.026	
	sampling point	F(1.878,16.899) = 61.962, p = 0.000	F(1.607,14.461) = 9.248, p = 0.004	F(1.438,12.943) = 31.623, p = 0.000	
	target shape × sampling point	n.s.	n.s.	F(1.978,17.801) = 2.790, p = 0.089*	

Control of hand orientation

The ratio of V_{ucm}/V_{orth} was greater than one at all sampling points for both target shapes. In addition, the analysis of the variance ratio revealed a main effect of target shape for the last sampling point (see Table 2). Subjects showed a bigger variance ratio when reaching towards the cylindrical target (see Fig. 3A). This was apparent during the whole time course of movement execution, but was stronger during the second half than during the first half of the movement, as indicated by a significant main effect of target shape across all sampling points, together with a significant interaction effect of target shape x sampling point (see Table 2). The interaction was due to the

continuous increase of the variance ratio when subjects had to reach towards the cylindrical target, whereas no clear trend was visible for the spherical target condition (see Fig. 3A).

The analysis of V_{ucm} and V_{orth} did not reveal any significant differences between the two target shapes, indicating that the significant difference in the variance ratio was due to small differences in both subspaces of variance. The main effect of sampling point reached significance for both, V_{ucm} and V_{orth} (see Table 2). Variance increased in both subspaces until the middle of the movement and decreased again afterwards (see Fig. 3B). Other effects did not reach the level of significance.



Fig.3 The time course of arm posture variance structured with regard to hand orientation calculated by means of the uncontrolled manifold method is depicted. A Ratio of V_{ucm}/V_{orth} per DoF and the respective confidence intervals are shown for each of the nine sampling points. The dotted line represents the critical value, above which it can be assumed that minimization of arm posture variance relevant for hand orientation was part of the underlying control strategy. The variance ratio of the cylindrical target condition was greater than that of the spherical target condition for the whole time course of movement execution. **B** V_{ucm} and V_{orth} and the respective confidence intervals are shown for each sampling point. Each bar represents the variance per DoF for one of the two orthogonal subspaces at the specific sampling point. No differences were evident between the two target shapes

Control of hand position

The ratio of V_{ucm}/V_{orth} of arm posture variance with regard to hand position variability differed between the target shapes for the last sampling point as well as across the time course of movement execution (see Figure 4 and Table 2: V_{ucm}/V_{orth}). Hand position was more strongly stabilized when reaching towards the spherical target. However, for both target shape

conditions the variance ratio was greater than one at all sampling points. Moreover, data analysis revealed a significant main effect of sampling point. The ratio between V_{ucm} and V_{orth} was greatest at the beginning of the movement, decreased towards the middle of the movement and slightly increased again afterwards. The effect of highest variance ratio at the beginning of the movement can be related to the very small amount of V_{orth} at early sampling points.



Fig.4 The time course of arm posture variance structured with regard to hand position. For this task variable, the variance ratios (A) and the two variances V_{ucm}/V_{orth} per DoF (B) are shown in the same way as in Fig. 3 for hand orientation. The variance ratio of the spherical target condition was greater than that of the spherical target condition, especially at the end of the movement. The ratio decreased and slightly increased again towards the end of the movement. Both target shape conditions showed the same time course. During the whole time course of movement execution, variance relevant for hand position (V_{orth}) was significantly smaller when reaching towards the spherical target shape as compared to the cylindrical target

Variance in the uncontrolled manifold (V_{ucm}) did not differ between the target shapes, neither at the last sampling point, nor across all sampling points. The interaction of target shape × sampling point did also not reach level of significance. However, the amount of V_{ucm} , as well as the amount of V_{orth} showed significant variations across the time course of movement execution (main effect of factor sampling point, see Table 2). In both cases, variance showed an increase-decrease pattern over time. Furthermore, analysis revealed a main effect of target shape for V_{orth} across all sampling point (see Table 2). Variance was greater when reaching towards a cylindrical target, compared to reaching movements towards the spherical target (see Fig. 4B). In addition, the decrease of V_{orth} towards movement end
tended to be slightly more pronounced on the sphere than on the cylinder as indicated by a marginal interaction of target shape \times sampling point for the subspace of V_{orth}, which could not be further clarified (see Table 2 and Fig. 4B).

Discussion

The purpose of the present study was to investigate the influence of target shape on the control strategy underlying reaching movements. We asked subjects to reach towards either a cylindrical or spherical target, whereby different constraints on final hand orientation and position were imposed by the shape of the targets. We analyzed joint angle variability of the arm at the end point and during movement execution, by looking at its amount and structure.

In agreement with Grea and colleagues (2000), we found that target shape had no influence on arm posture variability at the end of the movement. Also, end point variability of hand orientation and hand position did not differ when reaching either towards a spherical or cylindrical target. Grea and colleagues (2000) reasoned that final arm posture is an essential part of movement planning, even if this posture is not enforced by target shape. We expanded on that by also investigating the time course of variability of arm posture, hand orientation, and hand position during reaching movements towards targets with different constraints on hand orientation and hand position.

Variability of arm posture or hand orientation during movement execution was not different for the spherical and cylindrical target shape. However, during the time course of movement execution hand position variability differed between the two target shape conditions, showing less variability when reaching towards the spherical target. This suggests that reaching trajectories are differently controlled with respect to the constraints in final hand orientation and position imposed by the grasping object. Though, the fact that this difference became evident only during movement execution, but not at movement end, shows that the endpoint variance of the hand position was kept invariant, despite different control of hand position during the movement execution. This points towards an endpoint control of reaching movements. Furthermore, the invariance of endpoint variability extends previous observations that endpoint variability is rather invariant against perturbations of target position (Grea, et al., 2000).

The analysis of the structure of joint angle variability also provides support for a dependence of the control strategy on target shape. By means of the uncontrolled manifold method (Latash, et al., 2002, 2007; Scholz & Schoner, 1999), total variance of joint angles during movement execution was partitioned into two components – a subspace of arm configurations, whose variance (V_{ucm}) did not influence either hand orientation or hand position, and an orthogonal subspace of arm configuration, whose variance (V_{orth}) had an unwanted effect on the variability of hand orientation or hand position. We found that for both target shape condition, and throughout the whole time course of movement execution, V_{ucm} was greater than V_{orth} . This suggests that the joints of the arm were synergistically coordinated to stabilize hand orientation as well as hand position throughout the whole movement, supporting the notion of a trajectory control of reaching movements (Domkin, et al., 2005; Y. Tseng, et al., 2002). This is also confirmed by other studies using the uncontrolled manifold method (Gera, et al., 2010; Y. Tseng, et al., 2002; Y. W. Tseng, et al., 2003).

In line with our hypothesis, constraints of final hand orientation and hand position imposed by the target shape did influence the stability of the synergistic coordination of joint angle variability. When reaching towards a spherical target, which imposed more constraints on final hand position than the cylindrical target, hand position was more strongly stabilized as when reaching towards a cylindrical target. In contrast, hand orientation was more strongly stabilized for the cylindrical target. Those effects became evident not only at the end of the reaching movement, but during the whole time course of movement execution, further supporting the notion of a trajectory control. However, this does not imply that the desired hand orientation and hand position are explicitly represented task variables at each point in time. A control strategy that compromises between functionally different task variables may be fully compatible with the presented results, and also in line with further studies (Freitas & Scholz, 2009; Ma & Feldman, 1995).

As another aspect, the results speak in favor of a flexible coordination of redundant degrees of freedom to stabilize differently constrained task variables. Gera and colleagues (2010) could show that multiple task constraints do not interfere with each other, i.e. the synergistic control of one task variable was not negatively influenced by the stabilization of another task variable. In line with those results, we found that hand orientation and hand position can be simultaneously stabilized throughout the whole time course of movement execution (i.e. $V_{ucm}/V_{orth} > 1$ at all sampling points). However, although multiple task constraints do not interfere with each other, flexible control strategies seem to be applied for reaching towards both target shapes to better cope with the differently strong task constraints. In the current study, subjects more strongly stabilized hand orientation when reaching towards a target that imposed stronger constraints in hand orientation (i.e. the cylindrical target). The same was true for the stabilization of hand position. It may well be that this flexibility in stabilizing particular task variables may help to take into account other task constraints, not considered in the current study. This relates to a notion of Gera and colleagues (Gera, et al., 2010), who state that, although the motor control system takes advantage of motor abundance in the control of movement variability, it also narrows the space of actually used joint configurations to be able to also take other task constraints into account.

The stronger stabilization of the hand position in the spherical target condition seemed to be achieved by a stronger decrease of that amount of variance that is relevant for hand position variability, which was evident during the whole time course of movement execution. Thereby, the total amount of movement variability was kept low in an optimal way, by reducing variability only in task relevant dimensions. This is in line with the "minimum intervention principle" (Todorov & Jordan, 2002), which suggests that movement variability is restricted only when it interferes with the performance of the task. By doing so, control processes can be organized in a cost-optimal way. However, the same pattern of control could not be found with respect to the control of hand orientation, suggesting that the stabilization of important task variables can be achieved in a flexible manner. This may allow the motor control system to adequately react and adapt to different situations and environments, as also suggested by Freitas and Scholz (2009).

Conclusion

In summary, the results suggest that in reaching movements target shape affects the strategy used to control task variables that are especially constrained, e.g. hand orientation or hand position, but not its effectiveness. This becomes evident in the way the single joints are coordinated to minimize variability in the constrained dimension, i.e. in the way joint angle variability is structured. The stronger the imposed constraint, the stronger is the stabilization of the respective task variable. In addition, the stabilization of the task variables (i.e. hand orientation or hand position) seems to be part of the control strategy during the whole time course of movement execution.

References

Bagesteiro, L. B., Sarlegna, F. R., & Sainburg, R. L. (2006). Differential influence of vision and proprioception on control of movement distance. *Experimental Brain Research*, *171*(*3*), 358-370.

Boulinguez, P., Nougier, V., & Velay, J. L. (2001). Manual asymmetries in reaching movement control. I: Study of right-handers. *Cortex*, *37*(*1*), 101-122.

de Freitas, S. M., Scholz, J. P., & Stehman, A. J. (2007). Effect of motor planning on use of motor abundance. *Neuroscience Letters*, 417(1), 66-71.

Desmurget, M., Jordan, M., Prablanc, C., & Jeannerod, M. (1997). Constrained and unconstrained movements involve different control strategies. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *77(3)*, 1644-1650.

Desmurget, M., & Prablanc, C. (1997). Postural control of threedimensional prehension movements. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 77(1), 452-464.

Desmurget, M., Prablanc, C., Rossetti, Y., Arzi, M., Paulignan, Y., Urquizar, C., et al. (1995). Postural and synergic control for threedimensional movements of reaching and grasping. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *74*(2), 905-910. Domkin, D., Laczko, J., Djupsjobacka, M., Jaric, S., & Latash, M. L. (2005). Joint angle variability in 3D bimanual pointing: uncontrolled manifold analysis. *Experimental Brain Research*, *163(1)*, 44-57.

Domkin, D., Laczko, J., Jaric, S., Johansson, H., & Latash, M. L. (2002). Structure of joint variability in bimanual pointing tasks. *Experimental Brain Research*, *143*(1), 11-23.

Eggert, T., Tihanyi, T., & Straube, A. (2003). Solving the Redundancy Problem for Unrestricted Reaching Movements: A Comparison of Patients with Cerebral Infarcts and Healthy Controls. *Annals New York Academy of Sciences, 1004*, 511-515.

Freitas, S. M., & Scholz, J. P. (2009). Does hand dominance affect the use of motor abundance when reaching to uncertain targets? *Human Movement Science*, *28*(*2*), 169-190.

Gera, G., Freitas, S., Latash, M., Monahan, K., Schoner, G., & Scholz, J. (2010). Motor abundance contributes to resolving multiple kinematic task constraints. *Motor Control*, *14*(*1*), 83-115.

Grea, H., Desmurget, M., & Prablanc, C. (2000). Postural invariance in three-dimensional reaching and grasping movements. *Experimental Brain Research*, 134(2), 155-162.

Haaland, K. Y., Prestopnik, J. L., Knight, R. T., & Lee, R. R. (2004). Hemispheric asymmetries for kinematic and positional aspects of reaching. *Brain*, *127(Pt 5)*, 1145-1158.

Haslwanter, T. (1995). Mathematics of three-dimensional eye rotations. *Vision Research*, *35*(*12*), 1727-1739.

Kruger, M., Eggert, T., & Straube, A. (2011). Joint angle variability in the time course of reaching movements. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *122(4)*, 759-766.

Latash, M. L., Levin, M. F., Scholz, J. P., & Schoner, G. (2010). Motor control theories and their applications. *Medicina (Kaunas)*, 46(6), 382-392.

Latash, M. L., Scholz, J. P., & Schoner, G. (2002). Motor control strategies revealed in the structure of motor variability. *Exercise & Sport Science Reviews*, *30*(1), 26-31.

Latash, M. L., Scholz, J. P., & Schoner, G. (2007). Toward a new theory of motor synergies. *Motor Control*, *11*(*3*), 276-308.

Ma, S., & Feldman, A. G. (1995). Two functionally different synergies during arm reaching movements involving the trunk. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *73*(5), 2120-2122.

Magescas, F., Urquizar, C., & Prablanc, C. (2009). Two modes of error processing in reaching. *Experimental Brain Research*, *193*(*3*), 337-350.

Ohta, K., Svinin, M. M., Luo, Z., Hosoe, S., & Laboissiere, R. (2004). Optimal trajectory formation of constrained human arm reaching movements. *Biological Cybernetics*, *91*(1), 23-36.

Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The Assessment and Analysis of Handedness: The Edinburgh Inventory. *Neuropsychologica*, *9*, 97-113.

Sainburg, R. L., & Kalakanis, D. (2000). Differences in control of limb dynamics during dominant and nondominant arm reaching. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *83*(5), 2661-2675.

Scheidt, R. A., Conditt, M. A., Secco, E. L., & Mussa-Ivaldi, F. A. (2005). Interaction of visual and proprioceptive feedback during adaptation of human reaching movements. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *93*(*6*), 3200-3213.

Scholz, J. P., Danion, F., Latash, M. L., & Schoner, G. (2002). Understanding finger coordination through analysis of the structure of force variability. *Biological Cybernetics*, *86*(1), 29-39.

Scholz, J. P., & Schoner, G. (1999). The uncontrolled manifold concept: identifying control variables for a functional task. *Experimental Brain Research*, *126*(*3*), 289-306.

Scholz, J. P., Schoner, G., & Latash, M. L. (2000). Identifying the control structure of multijoint coordination during pistol shooting. *Experimental Brain Research*, *135*(*3*), 382-404.

Simmons, G., & Demiris, Y. (2006). Object grasping using the minimum variance model. *Biological Cybernetics*, *94*(5), 393-407.

Todorov, E., & Jordan, M. I. (2002). Optimal feedback control as a theory of motor coordination. *Nature Neuroscience*, *5*(*11*), 1226-1235.

Tseng, Y., Scholz, J. P., & Schoner, G. (2002). Goal-equivalent joint coordination in pointing: affect of vision and arm dominance. *Motor Control*, 6(2), 183-207.

Tseng, Y. W., & Scholz, J. P. (2005). The effect of workspace on the use of motor abundance. *Motor Control*, *9*(*1*), 75-100.

Tseng, Y. W., Scholz, J. P., & Galloway, J. C. (2009). The organization of intralimb and interlimb synergies in response to different joint dynamics. *Experimental Brain Research*, *193*(2), 239-254.

Tseng, Y. W., Scholz, J. P., Schoner, G., & Hotchkiss, L. (2003). Effect of accuracy constraint on joint coordination during pointing movements. *Experimental Brain Research*, *149*(*3*), 276-288.

van der Steen, M. M., & Bongers, R. M. (2011). Joint angle variability and co-variation in a reaching with a rod task. *Experimental Brain Research*, 208(3), 411-422.

Zhang, W., Scholz, J. P., Zatsiorsky, V. M., & Latash, M. L. (2008). What do synergies do? Effects of secondary constraints on multidigit synergies in accurate force-production tasks. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *99*(2), 500-513.

Accepted for publication in Motor Control

Age-related differences in the stabilization of important task variables in reaching movements

Melanie Krüger, Thomas Eggert and Andreas Straube

Abstract

Empirical evidence suggests that the ability to stabilize important task variables of every day movements by synergistically coordinating redundant degrees of freedom decreases with aging. The aim of the present study was to investigate whether this decrease may be regarded as a characteristic that also applies for the control of multiple task variables. We asked younger and older subjects to repeatedly reach towards and grasp a handle, while joint angle movement of the arm was recorded. The handle constrained final hand position and final hand orientation. Movement variability was analyzed during movement execution by using the uncontrolled manifold method. Results showed that hand orientation was less stabilized in younger than in older subjects. We conclude that aging changes the stability of important task variables. These changes may lead to decreased stability in some task variables, as reported in the literature, but also to increased stability in other task variables.

Introduction

In a recent study by Verrel and colleagues (Verrel, Lövden & Lindenberger, 2012) it was found that, in pointing movements, older subjects stabilize hand position less than younger subjects. Decreased stabilization of a hypothetically important task variable with age was also found in other studies (Olafsdottir, Zhang, Zatsiorsky & Latash, 2007; Shinohara, Scholz, Zatsiorsky & Latash, 2004), which could show that in multi-finger force production tasks, the decline in motor performance with aging was accompanied by a decrease in the stability of hypothetically important task variables. These authors used the uncontrolled manifold hypothesis (Latash, Scholz & Schöner, 2007; Scholz & Schöner 1999) for their analysis. In the concept of the uncontrolled manifold hypothesis, the amount of movement variability, which is not related to a hypothesized task variable (V_{ucm}), represents the flexibility in the synergistic coordination of the degrees of freedom (DoF; Latash et al., 2007, Latash, Levin, Scholz & Schöner, 2010). On the other hand, variability in task-relevant directions (V_{orth}) directly influences the performance outcome. The flexibility in the synergistic coordination (V_{ucm}) in relation to the variability in task-relevant directions (Vorth) gives an index about the stability of the motor system against perturbations (Latash et al., 2007). In the literature, a synergy index (i.e. V_{ucm}/V_{orth}) greater than one is interpreted as the motor system is stabilizing a respective task variable (Latash, et al., 2007). Latash and colleagues (Latash & Anson, 2006; Latash et al., 2010) highlighted the importance of this synergy index to describe accurate motor performance in older people. Verrel and colleagues (2012), for example, found that, towards the end of the movement, this synergy index was decreased in older people, whereas endpoint variability was not influenced. However, it is not clear, whether, in the presence of multiple, hypothetically important task variables, the decrease in the synergy index with ageing is a general characteristic that can be seen for all task variables, or whether, some of the task variables may be even more strongly stabilized. Gera and colleagues (2010) could show that younger people were able to synergistically stabilize multiple task variables without interfering between them. The question arises, whether the strategy to stabilize multiple task variables differs between age groups.

The aim of the present study was to investigate the stability of hypothetically important task variables in a reach-to-grasp movement, in younger and older people. For this purpose we investigated the variability of hand orientation and hand position in younger and older subjects, when reaching towards a cylindrical target. Variability of the task variables, as well as variability of the effector system (i.e. joint angle variability of the arm) was analyzed. A general decrease in the synergy indices would support previous findings (Olafsdottir et al., 2007; Shinohara, et al., 2004; Verrel et al., 2012), suggesting a decreased ability of older subjects to stabilize important task variables. An increase in the stability of one task variable with age, however, would suggest that aging may also lead to increased stabilization of hypothetically important task variables. This would imply different control strategies to stabilize multiple important task variables between younger and older people.

Subjects and Methods

Eleven younger (mean age: 25.5 ± 3.4 years) and eleven older (mean age: 66.3 ± 3.1 years) subjects participated in the study. They were paid for participation and gave written informed consent prior to participation. The subjects were not aware of the purpose of the study. All subjects were right hand dominant as determined by the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971).

A detailed description of the experimental set-up can be found in Krüger, Eggert and Straube (2011). Briefly, subjects repeatedly had to reach towards and grasp a cylindrical target, which was positioned within reaching distance in front of them (see Fig. 1A). To provoke the most natural movement, no demands concerning movement speed or reaction time were made. The target could be placed at three possible positions and changed its location between every reaching movement (trial). To minimize withinsubject between-trial variability due to differences in the initial position, starting position was carefully defined by the set-up. The size of the target forced the subjects to grasp it with the whole hand, and not just with two fingers (see Fig. 1B). Due to its geometric properties, the cylindrical target constrained final hand orientation and hand position in two out of three possible axes, each. Four blocks with 30 trials in each block were recorded (120 trials). Each experimental block consisted of 10 trials of each handle position, arranged in a pseudo-random order to avoid predictability of the handle position. Between the blocks a break of a maximum of five minutes was offered to avoid fatigue.

Arm movement was recorded by an ultra-sonic sound emitting system (Zebris Medical, Isny, Germany). Recording frequency was 33 Hz for each of the six markers, which were attached to the subject's arm to record joint angle motion in the seven DoF of the arm (see Fig. 1C). Shutter glasses (Translucent Technologies, Toronto, Canada) were used to prevent visual online control of the reaching movement. The opening and closing of the shutter glasses was triggered by the movement onset of the first marker (i.e. at the basal joint of the index finger). As soon as the subjects started their movement, the shutter glasses occluded and thereby prevented visual online control of the movement. The first contact with the handle was monitored by recording the electrical resistance between the subject and the handle (sampled at 1 kHz).

The data analysis is described in detail in a recent article by our group (Krüger, Borbély, Eggert & Straube, 2012). Briefly, the joint angles of the arm were computed from the marker position using a three segment rigid body model. Joint angles were expressed as seven consecutive Cardan angles in the following order: two angles for the wrist (vertical, horizontal), two for the elbow (torsion, flexion), and three for the shoulder (torsion, horizontal, vertical). The vector containing these seven joint angles is hereafter referred to as arm posture. In addition, orientation of the hand in space (i.e. 3D) was defined by the orientation of the plane defined by the three markers on the hand and wrist. The orientation was specified in Helmholtz coordinates relative to the external world. The hand position in

space was defined by the centre of the two markers of the hand in world fixed Cartesian coordinates. The full temporal resolution of the joint angle motion was reduced to ten equidistant sampling points between movement initiation and movement end. Before estimating the 7x7 covariance matrix of the arm posture for reaching movements between fixed starting position and fixed target position, a correction of the joint angle trajectories for small inter-trial variations of movement duration and of the actual starting position of the arm was calculated. After this correction, the covariance matrix of the starting position (first sample) reduced to zero and was not considered in further analytical steps. Thus, the covariance matrix of the joint angles was analyzed at nine equidistant sampling points during the movement.

Two overall measures were computed to examine the amount of variability of the reaching movements on joint angle level during the time course of movement execution: (1) square-root of the mean within-subject variance, averaged across the seven joint angles of the arm (in the following referred to as: "standard deviation of arm posture"), and (2) square root of the mean within-subject variance of the task variable averaged across its three dimensions ("standard deviation of the task variable"). These overall standard deviations were calculated separately for each subject, and sampling point. Hand orientation, and hand position were considered as the two task variables in the current study. Target position was not considered as a factor in the further analysis, since recent work (Krüger, et al., 2012) showed that the overall standard deviations of both the task variables, and the effector variables (i.e. joint angle variability) did not differ across handle positions.

The uncontrolled manifold analysis was calculated as described in detail in Krüger et al. (2012). At each sampling point total joint angle variance was partitioned into two subspaces, with respect to the task variables: (1) the subspace of differential joint angle changes that did not affect task variables (irrelevant variance, normalized to the number of DoF in that subspace: V_{ucm}), and the orthogonal subspace (relevant variance, normalized to the number of DoF in that subspace: V_{orth}). Subsequently, the synergy index was calculated as the ratio between V_{ucm}/V_{orth} . All computations were performed using Matlab 7.9.0 (Mathworks, Natick, USA).

Statistical analysis was calculated using SPSS 9.0. A repeated measurement ANOVA was calculated with age-group (younger and older subjects) as the between factor, and sampling point as the repeated factor for the following dependent variables: (1) standard deviation of arm posture, and: (2) standard deviation of the task variable (for hand position, and hand orientation, each), (3) V_{ucm}, (4) V_{orth}, and (5) V_{ucm}/V_{orth}. The critical value for significance was set at p < 0.05. Greenhouse-Geisser adjustment was made, if the sphericity assumption was rejected by Mauchly's sphericity test. Variance data was tested for normal distribution with the Lilliefors-test. Data was normally distributed for all of the above mentioned factors at almost all sampling points.



Fig.1 Experimental set-up and apparatus. A View of the experimental set-up from above. The black solid bars represent one of the three possible positions of the moveable target. Dashed bars show the other two possible target positions. B The positions of the six ultra-sonic sound-emitting markers are depicted. The starting position of the dominant right arm was defined by grasping a wooden lever attached to the handrail. C The cylindrical target is depicted with its length and depth. Parts A and C are reprinted from Clinical Neurophysiology, 122/4, Krüger, M., Eggert, T., & Straube, A., Joint angle variability in the time course of reaching movemetns, 759-766, Copyright (2011), with permission from Elsevier

Results

Neither standard deviation of arm posture, nor standard deviation of hand position or hand orientation differed between younger and older subjects, neither at movement end, nor across the time course of movement execution. The uncontrolled manifold analysis of joint angle variability with respect to the task variable hand position did not show any significant main effect or interaction involving the factor age group. Both age groups stabilized hand position throughout the whole time course of movement execution (i.e. $V_{ucm}/V_{orth} > 1$). The synergy index (V_{ucm}/V_{orth}) was greatest at movement start and decreased until the midst of the movement. Afterwards the index was stable at a level of 2.



Fig.2 The time courses of variances analyzed by means of the uncontrolled manifold approach and respective confidence intervals, computed with respect to the task variable hand orientation. A $V_{ucm}/V_{ort}h$ for younger and older subjects. Both age groups stabilize hand orientation during the time course of movement execution. The ratio is significantly smaller for younger subjects than for older subjects. B V_{ucm} and V_{orth} for both age groups.

The uncontrolled manifold analysis with respect to the task variable hand orientation revealed that hand orientation, too, was stabilized by both age groups throughout the whole time course of movement execution. The ratio of V_{ucm}/V_{orth} was stable at the beginning of the movement and increased continuously in the second half of the movement (see Fig. 2A). However,

older subjects stabilized hand orientation more strongly than younger subjects, as indicated by a significant main effect of age group (F(1,19) = 4.885, p = 0.040). No other effects reached the level of significance.

Older subjects showed less variance than younger subjects within the subspace of the uncontrolled manifold (V_{ucm}) in the first half of the movement and more variance than younger subjects in the second half of the reaching movements. This qualitative observation was supported by a significant interaction of age group sampling point Х (F(2.515,47.823) = 3.502, p = 0.029; see Fig. 2B). Pairwise comparison showed significant differences between the two age groups for the first two sampling points (#1: F(1,19) = 5.507, p = 0.030; #2: F(1,19) = 4.861, p = 0.040). For the task-relevant variance (V_{orth}), neither the main effect of the factor age group nor the interaction effect age group \times sampling point reached significance.

The main effects of sampling point were significant for each dependent variable and were in line with recent observations by our group (Krüger et al., 2011; Krüger et al., 2012).

Discussion

The objective of the present study was to investigate the stability of hypothetically important task variables in a reach-to-grasp movement in younger and older people. Similar to the findings of Verrel and colleagues (2012) joint angle variability of the arm, as well as variability of hand position, and also hand orientation were not increased in older subjects. Hence, younger and older subjects performed the reaching movements with the same quality of performance. No age-related differences were found for the stabilization of hand position in our experiment. However, younger and older subjects differed in the strength of stabilizing hand orientation during movement execution, with older subjects stabilizing hand orientation more strongly than younger subjects. Leaving aside the sign of this difference, the observed change of synergy index was similar to other observations in so far that it was caused by a change of the task irrelevant variance. Verrel et al. (2002) found a decreased synergy index for stabilizing hand position in older people caused by decreased task-irrelevant variance. Domkin and colleagues (2002), who investigated the changes in the structure of movement variability with practice, also found a decreased synergy index due to decreased task-irrelevant variance. In general, a change of the synergy index without strong changes in the task-relevant variance may indicate a switch in the control strategy concerning the minimization of task-irrelevant variance.

The differences to the findings of Verrel and colleagues (2012), who found decreased stabilization of hand position in older subjects, may be due to the fact that the reaching task used in our experiment forced subjects to control multiple task variables. In contrast, the pointing movement used in the study by Verrel and colleagues constrained only one task variable, namely final

hand position. Empirical evidence suggests that the motor control system is able to simultaneously stabilize multiple, hypothetically important task variables (Gera, et al., 2010). In a recent study (Krüger, et al., 2012) we could show that the motor control strategy differs in the stabilization of multiple, hypothetically important task variables, depending on the constraints applied by the movement task. The finding that younger and older subjects differ in the strength of stabilizing hand orientation, but not hand position, suggests that younger and older subjects adapt their motor control strategy differently to multiple task constraints. This suggests that the decreased ability of older subjects to stabilize important task variables, as reported in the literature (Olafsdottir et al., 2007; Shinohara et al., 2004; Verrel et al., 2012), is not a general characteristic associated with normal aging, but is influenced by the movement task. In the presence of multiple task constraints, older people may show different strategies in controlling important task variables, as when the movement task requires the control of one task variable, only.

We conclude that aging changes the stability in the control of hypothetically important task variables. These changes may lead to decreased stability in some task variables, but also to increased stability in other task variables.

References

Domkin, D., Laczko, J., Jaric, S., Johansson, H., & Latash, M. L. (2002). Structure of joint variability in bimanual pointing tasks. *Experimental Brain Research*, *143*, 11-23.

Gera, G., Freitas, S., Latash, M., Monahan, K., Schoner, G., & Scholz, J. (2010). Motor abundance contributes to resolving multiple kinematic task constraints. *Motor Control*, *14*, 83-115.

Krüger, M., Borbély, B., Eggert, T., & Straube, A. (2012). Synergistic control of joint angle variability: Influence of target shape. *Human Movement Science*, *31*, 1071-1089.

Krüger, M., Eggert, T., & Straube, A. (2011). Joint angle variability in the time course of reaching movements. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *122*, 759-766.

Latash, M.L., & Anson, J.G. (2006). Synergies in health and disease: relations to adaptive changes in motor coordination. *Physical Therapy*, *86*, 1151-1160.

Latash, M.L., Levin, M.F., Scholz, J.P., & Schöner, G. (2010). Motor control theories and their applications. *Medicina (Kaunas)*, 46, 382-392.

Latash, M.L., Scholz, J.P., & Schöner, G. (2007). Toward a new theory of motor synergies. *Motor Control*, *11*, 276-308.

Olafsdottir, H., Zhang, W., Zatsiorsky, V.M., & Latash, M.L. (2007). Agerelated changes in multifinger synergies in accurate moment of force production tasks. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *102*, 1490-1501.

Oldfield, R.C. (1971). The Assessment and Analysis of Handedness: The Edinburgh Inventory. *Neuropsychologica*, *9*, 97-113.

Scholz, J.P., & Schöner, G. (1999). The uncontrolled manifold concept: identifying control variables for a functional task. *Experimental Brain Research*, *126*, 289-306.

Shinohara, M., Scholz, J.P., Zatsiorsky, V.M., & Latash, M.L. (2004). Finger interaction during accurate multi-finger force production tasks in young and elderly persons. *Experimental Brain Research*, *156*, 282-292.

Verrel, J., Lövdén, M., & Lindenberger, U. (2012). Normal aging reduces motor synergies in manual pointing. *Neurobiology of Aging*, *33*, 200.e1-200.e10.

3 General Discussion

In this thesis it was investigated how the human motor system adjusts the control of a complex reaching movement to changing sensory input and external task constraints. Analyzing movement variability in the effector and task space was chosen as the methodological approach, because variability in movement execution is an inherent characteristic of the human motor system, reflected simultaneously as flexibility and as stability in movement execution. The influence of a range of different internal and external factors on the control of reaching movements was tested to gain a comprehensive view on the research topic.

In the first study presented in this thesis, it was shown that the availability of visual information is of minor importance for the control of complex reaching movements. Further, the influence of an accuracy constraint on the time course of joint angle variability was investigated. We found decreased joint angle variability in the time course of movement execution as well as decreased variability of final hand position. In the second study, it was shown that the healthy human motor system immediately adjusts movement control to the availability of proprioceptive information with the goal to keep movement endpoint variability constant. In the third study of this thesis, we investigated the influence of the target shape on the control of movement variability in complex reaching movements. The main outcome of this study was that the healthy human motor system is able to simultaneously account for multiple task constraints. Thereby, the more the task variable was constraint the more strongly it was stabilized. The fourth study of this thesis investigated age-related changes in the control of movement variability. We could show that older people are also able to simultaneously control multiple task variables without performance decrements. Importantly, we were able to show that aging leads to multifaceted changes in the control of important task variables which became evident in an increased stabilization of an important task variable. In sum, the four studies presented as part of this thesis provide empirical evidence that the human motor system is able to effectively adjust the control of complex reaching movements to changing internal and external environmental conditions.

The observed adjustments of movement control were reflected mainly by changes in the structure of effector variability, and only minimally in the amount of task variability. The coordination of the effector DoF was adjusted to different sensory input (study 2) and external ask constraints (study 3), taking use of motor redundancy. As a consequence, movement endpoint variability was kept constant, reflecting stable task performance. As a benefit of the flexible coordination of the effector DoF multiple, simultaneously occurring task constraints could be accounted for without recognizable changes in task performance, as shown in the third and fourth study of this thesis. Importantly, the ability to simultaneously account for multiple task constraints seems to be influenced by aging, reflected by differences in the coordination of the redundant effector DoF between younger and older people (study 4).

In the following, certain aspects of the results will be discussed in more detail and will be integrated in the context of already existing knowledge on the topic. Further, the methods used to analyze movement variability will be critically discussed. At the end of the chapter an outlook to possible further research directions and a short conclusion will be given.

3.1 Flexibility in movement control

The most general outcome of the four studies presented in this thesis is that the human motor system flexibly adjusts the control of complex reaching movements to changing environmental conditions to ensure stable task performance. On that account, different sensory information is flexibly integrated with regard to their availability and reliability, as also suggested by Green and Angelaki (2010). In addition, external task constraints are flexibly accounted for, in dependence of the strength of the constraints they apply. Both cases will be discussed separately in the following. Thereafter, the influence of ageing on the control of complex reaching movements will be shortly discussed. Afterwards, it is carefully tried to differentiate how the processes of movement planning and control are reflected in the observed patterns of movement variability.

3.1.1 Integration of sensory information

Independent of whether the availability of visual or proprioceptive information was experimentally manipulated, subjects were well able to reach the target in a repeated and successful manner, as shown in the first two studies that were presented in this thesis. Under these conditions, general task performance was good, meaning that the movement goal, i.e. the grasping of the target, was repeatedly achieved with a mean standard deviation in final hand position of only 4-5mm. This suggests that the motor system was able to effectively compensate for the decreased availability of each source of sensory information by decreasing the reliance on it. This is in line with existing empirical evidence, which suggests that healthy subjects flexibly integrate visual and proprioceptive information to guide movement planning and control (Green & Angelaki, 2010; Sober & Sabes, 2005; Verstynen & Sabes, 2011). Importantly, the results of the first two studies of this thesis suggest that this flexibility in the integration of sensory information is very effective in so that task performance is kept stable.

It is generally assumed that visual and proprioceptive information are of different importance for different aspects of movement control (Bagesteiro, Sarlegna & Sainburg, 2006, Brown, Rosenbaum & Sainburg, 2003). Thereby, visual information seems to be primarily used for the control of the final position of the effector, whereas proprioceptive information is supposed to guide control during movement execution. Based on that, one would expect differences in the amount of movement variability either at movement end (for different visual conditions) or during movement execution (for proprioceptive information) when manipulating the availability of sensory information. Indeed, in the first study of this thesis the time course of joint angle variability was not influenced by the

availability of visual information. Though, final hand position was more variable when visual information about the reaching target was available only shortly at movement onset ("vision flash"-condition in the first study) as compared to the full vision or initial vision conditions, which can be interpreted as support for the importance of visual information for final position control. In contrast, in the second study of this thesis, when the availability of proprioceptive information was experimentally manipulated, variability of final hand position was not influenced. However, the time course of hand position variability during movement execution was different from that of the control condition, providing support for an involvement of proprioceptive information in trajectory control. The two findings together provide empirical support for the importance of both kind of sensory information for different aspects in the control of reaching movements.

3.1.2 Adjustment to external task constraints

The influence of two different external task constraints on the control of complex reaching movements was investigated in the current thesis. First, the influence of an accuracy constraint in final hand position on the movement variability was investigated. As had to be expected, final hand position was less variable when subjects were instructed on final position accuracy. In association with that, movement duration was increased. The relationship of movement duration and accuracy is empirically profound and described as either linear ("impulse-variability" model; see Meyer, Smith & Wright, 1982) or logarithmic ("Fitts law"; see Fitts, 1954; see Fitts & Peterson, 1964 for discrete aiming movements). Importantly, the decrease in final hand position variability was preceded by a decrease in joint angle variability during the time course of movement execution, i.e. differences in task performance were already reflected in differences in the amount of variability in the effector space during movement execution. This effect became evident during the second half of the movement, when onlinecontrol processes are supposed to take effect (Elliott, et al., 2010; Woodworth, 1899). This suggests that the decreased variability in final hand position under accuracy constraint relates to a stricter control of movement variability in this condition as compared to the other experimental conditions, rather than to differences in movement planning.

The second external task constraint, whose influence on movement control was investigated, was the shape of the reaching target. In the third study presented, subjects had to reach to two different targets, either a sphere or a cylinder. Due to their geometric properties, both targets applied constraints on final hand position and final hand orientation. Importantly, when grasping the sphere, final hand position was more constraint than when grasping the cylinder. The opposite was true for final hand orientation. Analyzing movement variability in the task space did not reveal any differences between the two target shape conditions. That means, neither final hand position nor final hand orientation were more variable in one of the two conditions. Though, analyzing movement variability in the effector space did reveal significant differences. The stabilization of each of the two task variables (hand position or hand orientation) was stronger when reaching towards the target which applied the stronger constraint on it, as revealed by the analysis of the joint angle variability by use of the uncontrolled manifold method. Similar to the accuracy constraint, this effect became evident in the second half of the movement, when online-control processes are supposed to come into operation. Importantly, both task constraints were accounted for during movement execution, meaning that the effector DoF were synergistically coordinated such that hand position and hand orientation were stabilized at each sampling point between movement start and movement end. This suggests that the healthy human motor system is able to simultaneously account for multiple task constraints, as also suggested by other existing evidence (Gera, et al., 2010, Zhang, et al, 2008). The important new insight resulting from the third study of this thesis is that the healthy human motor system flexibly adjusts the control of complex movements such that, the more constraint a task variable is, the greater is also its stabilization. Interestingly, task performance itself was not influenced by these different control strategies. This, again, is an evidence for the suitability of analyzing the time course of movement variability in the effector and task space when trying to investigate the adjustment of human movement control to changing environmental conditions

3.1.3 Age-related changes in movement control

It is generally assumed that aging leads to changes in complex motor behavior, often reflected in decreased task performance (Darling, Cook & Brown, 1989; Newell, Mayer-Kress & Liu, 2009; Vaillancourt & Newell, 2002; Verrel, Lövden & Lindenberger, 2012). Studies investigating the synergistic coordination of redundant DoF with respect to specific task variables showed that aging leads to a decrease in the stability of these task variables, usually accompanied by increased task variability (see for example Olafsdottir, et al., 2007; Verrel, Lövden & Lindenberger, 2012). In contrast to these findings, we were able to show that older people are able to simultaneously stabilize multiple task variables without decrements in task performance. Importantly, for one of the task variables in our study, namely hand orientation, older people showed a stronger stabilization through synergistic coordination of the effector DoF than younger control subjects. This is a finding which has not been reported before, but is in line with the idea that aging leads to multifaceted changes in systems complexity (Vaillancourt & Newell, 2002). The above mentioned studies investigated movement control with respect to only one hypothetically important task variable. Though, in natural environments multiple task constraints are present and have to be accounted for. By investigating more complex behavior as we did, that means by trying to request reaching behavior that is as natural as possible, it seems to be possible to reveal the complexity in age-related changes in motor behavior.

3.1.4 Differentiation between movement planning and control

During movement execution, planning and control processes affect movements to different proportions. Generally, two phases are distinguished: an initial ballistic phase, when only feed-forward control takes effect and subsequently an online-controlled phase, when also feedback processes come into operation (Elliott, et al, 2010; Woodworth, 1899). In our studies, differences in movement execution became apparent during the second half of the movement, i.e. when feedback mechanisms are supposed to take effect. At the first glance, this seems to suggest that the human motor system mainly adjust the feedback control of complex reaching movements to changing internal and external conditions, whereas movement planning is not influenced. Though, information of the previous movement outcome is integrated during the formation of the internal representation, which is used to guide the planning of the next movement (Medina, Jax & Coslett, 2009; Shadmehr & Krakauer, 2008; Verstynen & Sabes, 2011). Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that adjustments of the feedback components of the movement also influence the planning of subsequent movements. Taken as a whole, the results of the studies presented in this thesis suggest that the healthy human motor system adjusts the planning and control of reaching movements to changing internal and external task constraints. Though, more research is needed to be able to better differentiate between the two processes (see also next section for some additional remarks).

3.2 Critical Discussion on the Method

Analyzing movement variability in effector and task space served as the approach in the current thesis to investigate the adjustments of human movement control under changing sensory input and external task constraints. For that, a number of analytical tools were used, which will be critically discussed in the following.

3.2.1 Analysis of the amount of movement variability

First, the amount of movement variability was analyzed during the time course of movement execution and at movement end in both effector and task space. Through this we were able to detect differences in the control of the reaching movements that did not become obvious in the task performance, itself. Based on this, we concluded that analyzing the time course of movement variability is a valuable method to investigate underlying mechanisms of movement control (see study 1).

3.2.2 The uncontrolled manifold method

Second, we analyzed the structure of effector variability with respect to hypothetically important task variables by use of the uncontrolled manifold method (Scholz & Schöner, 1999). This method was applied in two of the presented studies (see study 3 and 4). Through this we were able to investigate, first, whether a hypothetically important task variable of the reaching movement was indeed controlled, second, whether different task constraints influence the synergistic control of such a task variable, and third, how the human motor control system accounts for multiple task constraints.

The use of the uncontrolled manifold method was helpful in many aspects. It was chosen because it allows alleging and testing a clearly defined hypothesis about what the human motor system is taking care of during movement control. Further, the concept underlying this method is in line with current theoretical knowledge about human motor control (see Shadmehr & Krakauer, 2008; Todorov & Jordan, 2002). In the concept of the uncontrolled manifold approach, total effector variance is partitioned into two independent components with respect to a hypothetically important task variable: task-irrelevant and task-relevant variance. By calculating the proportion of these two components to each other (different possibilities are propagated in that context: see Latash, et al., 2010 for an overview) one is able to infer about the strength with which a task variable is stabilized through synergistic coordination of the effector DoF. Though, during the work on the different studies of this thesis, several problems were faced by applying this method.

First, a prerequisite of this method is that one has a hypothesis about the task variable that is controlled by the motor system during movement execution. In some tasks, as for example grasping an object, it is not difficult to find such task variables, as it is clearly defined. But in natural environments multiple task variables may be of importance for task success and have to be accounted for, which may not be that obvious and easy to define as in laboratory environments. Then the questions arise: (1) which are the task variables controlled by the motor system, (2) how many task variables are accounted for, and (3) how many task variables can be meaningfully controlled by the human motor system. Currently, it is still under debate, how the stabilization of multiple task variables has to be interpreted.

Second, we were able to show that the human motor system can account for multiple important task variables and that the task variable which is more constraint is also stabilized more strongly (see study 3). Though, this was only possible by separately partitioning total effector variance with respect to either one of the two task variables, hand orientation or hand position. At the current state it is not possible to calculate how the effector system accounts for multiple task variables, simultaneously. A further development of the method or the development of a more advanced method will be necessary to overcome that problem.

Third, with the uncontrolled manifold method one is only able to partition total effector variance with respect to the task variable at the same, specific sampling point during movement execution. Though in general, it would be of interest to see how the effector variance at each sampling point during movement execution propagates with respect to the variance of the task variable at movement end. In the second study presented in this thesis, this problem was approached by use of a canonical correlation analysis (see study 2). Trying to align the uncontrolled manifold method and the canonical correlation analysis may be a relevant goal for the future.

The fourth problem faced during the work on this thesis was that the uncontrolled manifold method does not allow inferring about whether the movement variability observed is already part of the movement plan or only a problem of movement control. A recent publication by van Beers and colleagues (van Beers, Brenner & Smeets, 2013) targeted this question and could show that at least some part of the observed movement variability was

part of the movement plan. This problem also relates to the question what the task irrelevant variability, which constitutes an elemental part of the uncontrolled manifold concept, is caused by. The complementary use of the Tolerance-Noise-Covariance-model (Müller & Sternad, 2009) may prove itself as useful in answering this question.

3.2.3 Further approaches in analyzing movement variability

In addition to the analysis of the amount of movement variability and the uncontrolled manifold method, two different methods were applied in parts of this thesis. One method was the calculation of a canonical correlation, displaying the (mathematical) redundancy, i.e. the how much variability of the final arm posture can be explained by the variability of the arm posture at a certain point during movement execution. Besides the canonical correlation analysis, a principal component analysis was calculated in the second study presented. Both methods served as approaches to show how the human motor system copes with the temporary loss of proprioception in the control of complex reaching movements. They both revealed different aspects of the same compensatory mechanisms, namely the reduction of the task complexity by a stronger coupling of the effector DoF across the time course of movement execution (canonical correlation) and within one arm posture (principal component analysis). Although the results of the two methods are not straightforward to interpret in terms of the physiological substrates of movement control, they proved themselves to be helpful in the investigation of human movement control.

3.4 Prospective future research directions

As a matter of course, each question answered during the experimental work of this thesis raised many new questions for future experimental work. So far, the neural correlates underlying synergistic control of reaching movements are not well understood. One possibility to target this problem could be to introduce a temporary lesion in healthy subjects and to study the changes in movement control in comparison to normal conditions. The second study presented in this thesis can be seen as a first step in that direction. As the next step, it will now be necessary to study patients with chronic proprioceptive deafferentation and to compare the results with each other and range it into the existing models of motor control. Another possibility to introduce a temporal "virtual lesion" in healthy humans is TMS which allows studying the involvement of a specific cortical area in different phases of movement execution. The PPC, for example, is a cortical area, supposed to be involved in the integration of sensory information during movement preparation. It can be studied how the time course of movement variability changes with a virtual PPC lesion applied at different time points during movement preparation and execution. The results could then be compared to studies with patients with local PPC lesion.

The acquired knowledge in this thesis may influence the advances in some other fields of research. One field of interest could be the application in the context of sports. So far, the differentiation of effector variability in "taskrelevant" and "task-irrelevant" has been successfully applied in laboratory experimental tasks, where the effector and task variables could be clearly defined and closely controlled by the experimental set-up. In sports, many different task variables influence task performance in a complex manner. The importance of these task variables may change during movement execution and they may be related to different effector variables. If and how the uncontrolled manifold method can be applied in that context and if it could prove itself useful as an analytical tool to describe different levels of skill performance in sports is an interesting question to be targeted in the future.

3.5 Concluding remarks

Within this thesis a comprehensive picture was developed about how the human motor system adjusts the control of complex reaching movements to changing environmental conditions. It was shown that the human motor system purposefully exploits motor redundancy to adjust to changes in the availability of sensory information and to the simultaneous existence of multiple task constraints. Thereby, the flexible reliance on sensory information proved itself to be not only a consequence of experimental manipulation, but a prerequisite of stable task performance. Further, this thesis demonstrates that the analysis of movement variability constitutes a valuable approach for quantifying adjustments in human movement control, not only at movement end but also during movement execution, and not only in the task space but also in the effector space.

Bibliography

Adam, J. J. (1992). The effects of objectives and constraints on motor control strategy in reciprocal aiming movements. *J Mot Behav*, 24(2), 173-185.

Archambault, P., Pigeon, P., Feldman, A. G., & Levin, M. F. (1999). Recruitment and sequencing of different degrees of freedom during pointing movements involving the trunk in healthy and hemiparetic subjects. *Exp Brain Res*, *126*(1), 55-67.

Bagesteiro, L. B., Sarlegna, F. R., & Sainburg, R. L. (2006). Differential influence of vision and proprioception on control of movement distance. *Exp Brain Res*, *171*(3), 358-370.

Bays, P. M., & Wolpert, D. M. (2007). Computational principles of sensorimotor control that minimize uncertainty and variability. *J Physiol*, *578*(Pt 2), 387-396.

Bear, M. F., Connors, B. W., & Paradiso, M. A. (2007). *Neuroscience : exploring the brain*. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

Berardelli, A., Hallett, M., Rothwell, J. C., Agostino, R., Manfredi, M., Thompson, P. D., et al. (1996). Single-joint rapid arm movements in normal subjects and in patients with motor disorders. *Brain*, *119*(Pt 2), 661-674.

Bernstein, N. A. (1967). *The Co-ordination and Regulation of Movements*. Oxford: Pergamon Press.

Bortz, J., & Schuster, C. (2010). *Statistik für Human- und Sozialwissenschaftler*. Berlin: Springer.

Boyles, J., Panzer, S., & Shea, C. H. (2012). Increasingly complex bimanual multi-frequency coordination patterns are equally easy to perform with online relative velocity feedback. *Exp Brain Res*, *216*(4), 515-525.

Brown, L. E., Rosenbaum, D. A., & Sainburg, R. L. (2003). Limb position drift: implications for control of posture and movement. *J Neurophysiol*, *90*(5), 3105-3118.

Buchanan, J. J., Park, J. H., & Shea, C. H. (2006). Target width scaling in a repetitive aiming task: switching between cyclical and discrete units of action. *Exp Brain Res*, 175(4), 710-725.

Cirstea, M. C., & Levin, M. F. (2000). Compensatory strategies for reaching in stroke. *Brain*, *123*(Pt 5), 940-953.

Cisek, P. (2007). Cortical mechanisms of action selection: the affordance competition hypothesis. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 362*(1485), 1585-1599.

Cisek, P., Grossberg, S., & Bullock, D. (1998). A cortico-spinal model of reaching and proprioception under multiple task constraints. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 10(4), 425-444.

Cusumano, J. P., & Cesari, P. (2006). Body-goal variability mapping in an aiming task. *Biol Cybern*, *94*(5), 367-379.

Darling, W. G., Cooke, J. D., & Brown, S. H. (1989). Control of simple arm movements in elderly humans. *Neurobiol Aging*, *10*(2), 149-157.

de Freitas, S. M., Scholz, J. P., & Stehman, A. J. (2007). Effect of motor planning on use of motor abundance. *Neurosci Lett*, *417*(1), 66-71.

Desmurget, M., Jordan, M., Prablanc, C., & Jeannerod, M. (1997a). Constrained and unconstrained movements involve different control strategies. *J Neurophysiol*, 77(3), 1644-1650.

Desmurget, M., & Prablanc, C. (1997). Postural control of threedimensional prehension movements. *J Neurophysiol*, 77(1), 452-464.

Desmurget, M., Prablanc, C., Rossetti, Y., Arzi, M., Paulignan, Y., Urquizar, C., et al. (1995). Postural and synergic control for threedimensional movements of reaching and grasping. *J Neurophysiol*, 74(2), 905-910.

Desmurget, M., Rossetti, Y., Jordan, M., Meckler, C., & Prablanc, C. (1997b). Viewing the hand prior to movement improves accuracy of pointing performed toward the unseen contralateral hand. *Exp Brain Res*, *115*(1), 180-186.

Domkin, D., Laczko, J., Jaric, S., Johansson, H., & Latash, M. L. (2002). Structure of joint variability in bimanual pointing tasks. *Exp Brain Res*, 143(1), 11-23.

Ellenbürger, T., Krüger, M., Shea, C.H. & Panzer, S. (2012). Sind motorische Handlungen auf eine präzise Wahrnehmung angewiesen? *Zeitschrift für Sportpsychologie*, *19*(4), 135-144.

Elliott, D., Hansen, S., Grierson, L. E., Lyons, J., Bennett, S. J., & Hayes, S. J. (2010). Goal-directed aiming: two components but multiple processes. *Psychol Bull*, *136*(6), 1023-1044.

Faisal, A. A., Selen, L. P., & Wolpert, D. M. (2008). Noise in the nervous system. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 9(4), 292-303.

Fitts, P. M. (1954). The information capacity of the human motor system in controlling the amplitude of movement. *J Exp Psychol*, 47(6), 381-391

Fitts, P. M., & Peterson, J. R. (1964). Information Capacity of Discrete Motor Responses. *J Exp Psychol*, 67, 103-112.

Flash, T., & Hogan, N. (1985). The coordination of arm movements: an experimentally confirmed mathematical model. *J Neurosci*, *5*(7), 1688-1703.

Gentilucci, M., Toni, I., Chieffi, S., & Pavesi, G. (1994). The role of proprioception in the control of prehension movements: a kinematic study in a peripherally deafferented patient and in normal subjects. *Exp Brain Res*, *99*(3), 483-500.

Gera, G., Freitas, S., Latash, M., Monahan, K., Schöner, G., & Scholz, J. (2010). Motor abundance contributes to resolving multiple kinematic task constraints. *Motor Control*, 14(1), 83-115.

Ghez, C., & Sainburg, R. (1995). Proprioceptive control of interjoint coordination. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, 73(2), 273-284.

Gielen, C., Vanbolhuis, B. M., & Theeuwen, M. (1995). On the control of biologically and kinematically redundant manipulators. *Hum Mov Sci*, *14*(4-5), 487-509.

Goodale, M. A., & Milner, A. D. (1992). Separate visual pathways for perception and action. *Trends Neurosci*, 15(1), 20-25.

Grea, H., Desmurget, M., & Prablanc, C. (2000). Postural invariance in three-dimensional reaching and grasping movements. *Exp Brain Res*, 134(2), 155-162.

Green, A. M., & Angelaki, D. E. (2010). Multisensory integration: resolving sensory ambiguities to build novel representations. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 20(3), 353-360.

Harris, C. M., & Wolpert, D. M. (1998). Signal-dependent noise determines motor planning. *Nature*, 394(6695), 780-784.

Koch, G., & Rothwell, J. C. (2009). TMS investigations into the taskdependent functional interplay between human posterior parietal and motor cortex. *Behav Brain Res*, 202(2), 147-152.

Kovacs, A. J., Buchanan, J. J., & Shea, C. H. (2008). Perceptual influences on Fitts' law. *Exp Brain Res*, *190*(1), 99-103.

Latash, M. L., & Anson, J. G. (2006). Synergies in health and disease: relations to adaptive changes in motor coordination. *Phys Ther*, *86*(8), 1151-1160.

Latash, M. L., Levin, M. F., Scholz, J. P., & Schöner, G. (2010). Motor control theories and their applications. *Medicina (Kaunas)*, 46(6), 382-392.

Latash, M. L., Scholz, J. P., & Schöner, G. (2002). Motor control strategies revealed in the structure of motor variability. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev*, *30*(1), 26-31.

Latash, M. L., Scholz, J. P., & Schöner, G. (2007). Toward a new theory of motor synergies. *Motor Control*, 11(3), 276-308.

Medina, J., Jax, S. A., & Coslett, H. B. (2009). Two-component models of reaching: evidence from deafferentation in a Fitts' law task. *Neurosci Lett*, 451(3), 222-226.

Meyer, D. E., Smith, J. E., & Wright, C. E. (1982). Models for the speed and accuracy of aimed movements. Psychol Rev, 89(5), 449-482.

Miall, R. C., Christensen, L. O., Cain, O., & Stanley, J. (2007). Disruption of state estimation in the human lateral cerebellum. *PLoS Biol*, *5*(11), e316.

Müller, H., & Sternad, D. (2009). Motor learning: changes in the structure of variability in a redundant task. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 629, 439-456.

Newell, K. M., Mayer-Kress, G., & Liu, Y. T. (2009). Aging, time scales, and sensorimotor variability. *Psychol Aging*, 24(4), 809-818.

Nougier, V., Bard, C., Fleury, M., Teasdale, N., Cole, J., Forget, R., . . . Lamarre, Y. (1996). Control of single-joint movements in deafferented patients: evidence for amplitude coding rather than position control. *Exp Brain Res*, *109*(3), 473-482.

Olafsdottir, H., Zhang, W., Zatsiorsky, V. M., & Latash, M. L. (2007). Agerelated changes in multifinger synergies in accurate moment of force production tasks. *J Appl Physiol*, *102*(4), 1490-1501.

Rosenbaum, D. A., Vaughan, J., Barnes, H. J., & Jorgensen, M. J. (1992). Time course of movement planning: selection of handgrips for object manipulation. *J Exp Psychol Learn Mem Cogn*, *18*(5), 1058-1073.

Sainburg, R. L., Ghilardi, M. F., Poizner, H., & Ghez, C. (1995). Control of limb dynamics in normal subjects and patients without proprioception. *J Neurophysiol*, *73*(2), 820-835.

Sainburg, R. L., Poizner, H., & Ghez, C. (1993). Loss of proprioception produces deficits in interjoint coordination. *J Neurophysiol*, 70(5), 2136-2147.

Scholz, J. P., & Schöner, G. (1999). The uncontrolled manifold concept: identifying control variables for a functional task. *Exp Brain Res*, 126(3), 289-306.

Schöner, G., & Scholz, J. P. (2007). Analyzing variance in multi-degree-of-freedom movements: uncovering structure versus extracting correlations. *Motor Control*, *11*(3), 259-275.

Scott, S. H. (2012). The computational and neural basis of voluntary motor control and planning. *Trends Cogn Sci, 16*(11), 541-549.

Seidler, R. D., Bernard, J. A., Burutolu, T. B., Fling, B. W., Gordon, M. T., Gwin, J. T., . . . Lipps, D. B. (2010). Motor control and aging: links to agerelated brain structural, functional, and biochemical effects. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, *34*(5), 721-733.

Shadmehr, R., & Krakauer, J. W. (2008). A computational neuroanatomy for motor control. *Exp Brain Res*, *185*(3), 359-381.

Shinohara, M., Scholz, J. P., Zatsiorsky, V. M., & Latash, M. L. (2004). Finger interaction during accurate multi-finger force production tasks in young and elderly persons. *Exp Brain Res*, *156*(3), 282-292.

Simmons, G., & Demiris, Y. (2006). Object grasping using the minimum variance model. *Biol Cybern*, *94*(5), 393-407.

Sober, S. J., & Sabes, P. N. (2005). Flexible strategies for sensory integration during motor planning. *Nat Neurosci*, 8(4), 490-497.

Todorov, E. (2004). Optimality principles in sensorimotor control. *Nat Neurosci*, 7(9), 907-915.

Todorov, E., & Jordan, M. I. (2002). Optimal feedback control as a theory of motor coordination. *Nat Neurosci, 5*(11), 1226-1235.

Uno, Y., Kawato, M., & Suzuki, R. (1989). Formation and control of optimal trajectory in human multijoint arm movement. Minimum torquechange model. *Biol Cybern*, *61*(2), 89-101.

Vaillancourt, D. E., & Newell, K. M. (2002). Changing complexity in human behavior and physiology through aging and disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 23(1), 1-11.

van Beers, R. J., Brenner, E., & Smeets, J. B. (2013). Random walk of motor planning in task-irrelevant dimensions. *J Neurophysiol*, *109*(4), 969-977.

van Beers, R. J., Haggard, P., & Wolpert, D. M. (2004). The role of execution noise in movement variability. *J Neurophysiol*, *91*(2), 1050-1063.

van den Dobbelsteen, J. J., Brenner, E., & Smeets, J. B. (2003). Adaptation of movement endpoints to perturbations of visual feedback. *Exp Brain Res*, *148*(4), 471-481.

Verrel, J. (2010). Distributional properties and variance-stabilizing transformations for measures of uncontrolled manifold effects. *J Neurosci Methods*, 191(2), 166-170.

Verrel, J., Lövden, M., & Lindenberger, U. (2012). Normal aging reduces motor synergies in manual pointing. *Neurobiol Aging*, 33(1), 200 e201-210.

Verstynen, T., & Sabes, P. N. (2011). How each movement changes the next: an experimental and theoretical study of fast adaptive priors in reaching. *J Neurosci*, *31*(27), 10050-10059.

Vesia, M., Yan, X., Henriques, D. Y., Sergio, L. E., & Crawford, J. D. (2008). Transcranial magnetic stimulation over human dorsal-lateral posterior parietal cortex disrupts integration of hand position signals into the reach plan. *J Neurophysiol*, *100*(4), 2005-2014.

von Holst, E., & Mittelstaedt, H. (1950). Das Reafferenzprinzip – (Wechselwirkungen zwischen Zentralnervensystem und Peripherie). *Naturwissenschaften*, *37*(20), 464-476.

Wolpert, D. M. (2007). Probabilistic models in human sensorimotor control. *Hum Mov Sci*, 26(4), 511-524.

Woodworth, R.S. (1899). The accuracy of voluntary movement. *Psychol Rev*, 3(3), 1-199.

Zhang, W., Scholz, J. P., Zatsiorsky, V. M., & Latash, M. L. (2008). What do synergies do? Effects of secondary constraints on multidigit synergies in accurate force-production tasks. *J Neurophysiol*, *99*(2), 500-513.

Acknowledgements

This thesis would not have been possible without the help of several individuals how gave me support throughout the last years. I want to express my sincere gratitude to those people.

First of all, I am deeply grateful to my first supervisor Prof. Andreas Straube for giving me the opportunity to work in his group and for providing an environment where I always felt supported and where I had the freedom to develop my own ideas. I am really thankful for him always being there when a decision had to be made.

Further, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Thomas Eggert for always having a sympathetic ear for my questions and for always challenging my arguments and thoughts. What I have learned from him will be of invaluable meaning for my further achievements in science.

I would also like to sincerely thank my two remaining thesis committee members: Heiner Deubel for always keeping the objective perspective on our work and for giving helpful advice to improve our research; and Stefan Panzer for giving professional advice and personal support, not only during the last four years, but from the very beginning on.

I would like to thank the Graduate School of Systemic Neurosciences and the Research Training Group 1091 "Orientation and motion in space" for offering me so many exceptional possibilities to develop as a researcher and for providing the funding to undertake this research. I owe special thanks to Maj-Catherine Botheroyd – she has been the good soul during this whole time.

Special thanks go to Mark Latash and the people I had the chance to meet during my research internship at PennState. It was very inspiring to see how they work and think.

I would like to thank all my colleagues in the Forschungshaus, who provided me with their support and open mind during the last four years. In that regard, special thanks go to Hans Hintermaier for his technical support. I would like to thank Rike for just being there. You always made me trying to be a better researcher. Thank you for your friendship!

Last, but not least, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my parents and my beloved sister for their incomparable support. Because of you, I reached to where I am now.

My deepest gratitude belongs to my beloved husband. Tom, this would not have been possible without you. You and Artur, you are the best in my life!

List of Publications

As part of the PhD-project

Krüger, M., Eggert, T. & Straube, A. (submitted). Rapid adjustment of human motor control strategies in reaching movements under temporal proprioceptive deafferentation.

Krüger, M., Eggert, T. & Straube, A. (in press). Age-related differences in the stabilization of important task variables in reaching movements. *Accepted for publication in Motor Control.*

Krüger, M., Borbély, B., Eggert, T. & Straube, A. (2012). Synergistic control of joint angle variability: Influence of target shape. *Human Movement Science*, *31*(5), 1071-1089.

Petzschner, F.H. & Krüger, M. (2012). How to Reach: Movement Planning in the Posterior Parietal Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *32*(14), 4703-4704.

Krüger, M., Eggert, T. & Straube, A. (2011). Joint angle variability in the time course of reaching movements. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, *122*(4), 759-766.

With external collaboration

Ellenbürger, T., Krüger, M., Shea, C.H. & Panzer, S. (2012). Sind motorische Handlungen auf eine präzise Wahrnehmung angewiesen? *Zeitschrift für Sportpsychologie*, *19*(4), 135-144.

Panzer, S., Gruetzmacher, N., Fries, U., Krueger, M., & Shea, C.H. (2011). Age-related effects in interlimb practice on coding complex movement sequences. *Human Movement Science*, *30*(3), 459-474.

Fries, U., Panzer, S., Shea, C.H., Grützmacher, N. & Krüger, M. (2010). Intermanueller Transfer und Händigkeit. *Zeitschrift für Sportpsychologie*, *17*(1), 1-11.

Panzer, S., Krueger, M., Muehlbauer, T. & Shea, C.H. (2010). Asymmetric effector transfer of complex movement sequences. *Human Movement Science*, *29*(1), 62-72.

Panzer, S., Krueger, M., Muehlbauer, T., Kovacs, A.J. & Shea, C.H. (2009). Inter-manual transfer and practice: coding of simple motor sequences. *Acta Psychologica*, *131*(2), 99-109.

Panzer, S., Muehlbauer, T., Krueger, M., Buesch, D., Naundorf, F. & Shea, C.H. (2009). Effects of interlimb practice on coding and learning of movement sequences. *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 62(7), 1265-76.

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Hiermit versichere ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation

"Motor variability as a characteristic of the control of reaching movements: Influence of sensory input and task constraints"

selbstständig angefertigt habe, mich außer der angegebenen keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen habe.

I hereby confirm that the dissertation

"Motor variability as a characteristic of the control of reaching movements: Influence of sensory input and task constraints"

is the result of my own work and that I have only used sources or materials listed and specified in the dissertation.

München, 21.05.2013

Melanie Krüger

Author's contribution to each publication

"Joint angle variability in the time course of reaching movements" The author of this thesis designed and ran the experiment, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

"Rapid adjustment of human motor control strategies in reaching movements under temporal proprioceptive deafferentation"

The author of this thesis designed and ran the experiment, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. The manuscript was submitted as a research article and is currently under review.

"Synergistic control of joint angle variability: Influence of target shape" The author of this thesis designed and ran the experiment, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

"Age-related differences in the stabilization of important task variables in reaching movements"

The author of this thesis designed and ran the experiment, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. The manuscript was submitted as a research note and is accepted for publication.

München, 21.05.2013

Melanie Krüger

Andreas Straube